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ABOUT THE COMPANY

Stoneridge, Inc. is a leading independent designer and manufacturer
of highly engineered electrical and electronic components, modules
and systems for the automotive, medium- and heavy-duty truck,
agricultural and off-highway vehicle markets. Based in Warren, Ohio,
the Company has 12 facilities in North America, 11 in Europe and
one in South America.

The Company designs, engineers and manufactures electrical and 
electronic products that comprise the main elements of a vehicle’s 
electrical system. Stoneridge has a significant market presence in each
area and a distinct ability to combine those technologies and products
to bring integrated systems and modules to the market. 

The Company has two reportable operating segments:

■ Vehicle Management and Power Distribution, which 
includes electronic instrument clusters, electronic control units,
driver information systems and electrical distribution systems

■ Control Devices, which includes electronic and electromechanical
switches, control actuation devices, and sensors.

For more information, visit www.stoneridge.com.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

In thousands, except per share data

2003 2002

Net sales $ 606,665 $ 636,507
Operating income $ 58,370 $ 74,320
Diluted income before cumulative effect 

of accounting change per share $ 0.94 $ 0.93
Working capital $ 71,046 $ 85,462
Total assets $ 579,667 $ 571,127
Long-term debt $ 200,245 $ 248,918
Shareholders’ equity $ 243,406 $ 215,902
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In this period of management transition, it is

important to remember that Stoneridge holds many strengths, a

solid position in the marketplace and excellent prospects for the

future. It is therefore my belief that although our accomplish-

ments were significant in 2003, our Company has not yet

reached its full potential.

We have built the financial, product and geographical framework

on which to grow. And I am confident that Stoneridge will

achieve higher levels of performance and shareholder value under

the new chief executive officer who will be identified as a result

of our comprehensive executive search. We also will benefit from

the addition of two new directors to our Board – John C. Corey

and William M. Lasky – both of whom have extensive experience

in managing global manufacturing companies.

Though we are in transition, the importance of the progress we made in 2003 under difficult 

market conditions should not be minimized. During the year, we strengthened our balance sheet

and generated strong cash flow. We achieved significant annualized savings through operational

improvements resulting from our Six Sigma and lean manufacturing initiatives, along with

improved leveraging of our global purchasing power.

In addition, we were able to reduce our costs through continued transitioning of manufacturing 

to low-cost locations. Lean manufacturing initiatives enabled us to open up floor space in existing 

low-cost facilities. And we opened a new facility in Mexico to move a significant amount of our

power and signal distribution manufacturing closer to customer facilities and to reduce costs. All of

these achievements strengthened our Company and improved its long-term profitability and liquidity.
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In 2003, our net sales decreased 4.7 percent to $606.7 million. However, we did see an upturn 

in volume within the North American commercial vehicle market toward the end of the year, and

industry forecasts indicate further improvement in that market in 2004. 

Earnings for 2003 were $0.94 per diluted share compared with income before cumulative effect 

of accounting change of $0.93 per diluted share in 2002. In 2003, Stoneridge adopted SFAS 123,

“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” As a result, the Company recognized $1.3 million of

pre-tax, non-cash compensation expense for the year. The impact of this adoption

on earnings was $0.04 per share. This adoption was the result of the Company’s

desire to increase financial reporting transparency to its shareholders as well as 

to pursue best practices for corporate governance.

Our capital management remained strong as we generated approximately 

$16 million of positive cash flow from operating assets and liabilities, and paid 

down approximately $50 million in debt. We believe our balance sheet is now

positioned to support our pipeline of new business and the substantial organic

growth opportunities that exist in our served markets. 

Stoneridge’s employees continue to demonstrate that they are a key strength of

our Company. I applaud their commitment to identifying and implementing

improvements throughout our operations, their dedication to continuous 

learning and their diligence in understanding and finding new ways to serve customer needs. 

The commitment and talent of our employees will be crucial factors in our ongoing success.

For the coming year, we plan to continue our operational improvements, increase our footprint 

in low-cost regions and achieve additional cost savings by strengthening our supplier relationships 

in China and India. This should allow us to continue to reduce our costs and remain competitive.

As we work on gaining further synergies from our existing operations, we will focus on organic

growth of our business in our key automotive and commercial vehicle markets. We are targeting

Tier One suppliers and original equipment manufacturers in the mature North American and

D.M. DRAIME

Interim President 

and Chief

Executive Officer
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European markets, as well as emerging markets in Asia and South America. Sales growth will be

driven by how well we take advantage of the trend toward increasing electronic content within 

vehicles, combined with our technology leadership in providing enhanced safety, performance 

and efficiency through our products.

Our strategy is solid and commercially relevant to our customers. We are committed to capitalizing

on future growth opportunities that will provide us with a satisfactory return on our investment. 

In a period of intensifying competition, we will continue to carefully invest in technologies that 

are commercially relevant as we consistently develop new and useful products that differentiate us

from the competition. 

In summary, we are entering an exciting period for Stoneridge. The actions we have taken during the

past few years in a challenging market environment have made the Company a stronger one, while

the potential for future growth remains as promising as ever. We are cautiously optimistic about

increasing market activity in 2004, led by the expected improvement in commercial vehicle sales, 

but we remain confident about our long-term growth prospects within each of our key markets.

I am also confident that we are on the right track to grow our business profitably and reach our full

potential. We will remain vigilant in managing our cash flow and balance sheet. As chairman and a

shareholder, I have a personal responsibility to all shareholders and other stakeholders of Stoneridge

to ensure that we achieve our goals.

I thank all of our employees who have contributed to our success and our shareholders for their

ongoing support.

D.M. DRAIME

Interim President and Chief Executive Officer

March 9, 2004
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Product Innovation

STONERIDGE HAS MADE SIGNIFICANT STRIDES DURING RECENT YEARS BY ADVANCING

ITS PRODUCTS AND OBSOLETING COMPETITIVE TECHNOLOGIES THROUGH INNOVATION.

Global Expansion/Cost Reduction

IN RECENT YEARS, STONERIDGE HAS EXPANDED ITS GLOBAL OPERATIONS TO MATCH

THE MOVEMENT OF ITS CUSTOMERS TO EMERGING AND LOWER-COST REGIONS. 

Customer Focus

A STEADFAST COMMITMENT TO CUSTOMER GOALS, COMBINED WITH INTELLECTUAL EXPERTISE,

PROVIDES STONERIDGE A STRONG FOUNDATION FROM WHICH TO SERVE ITS CUSTOMER BASE. 

Stoneridge’s technology expertise and global scope make 

the Company a leader in specially engineered electrical and

electronic component parts and modules for the automotive

and commercial vehicle manufacturing markets. Through

its commitment to providing innovative new products,

strategically expanding global manufacturing operations,

continuous cost reduction and focusing on the customer,

Stoneridge is able to provide high-performance solutions

and meet the evolving needs of customers worldwide.

PROVIDING INNOVATION, PERFORMANCE AND VALUE
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INNOVATIVE PRODUCTS SERVE CHANGING NEEDS

A vehicle’s electrical system consists of products that perform

sensing, control actuation, distribute power and manage 

the electronic functions. Within each of these four areas,

Stoneridge seeks to engineer innovative technical solutions

that offer higher system functionality at lower costs and

lighter weights.

The Company brings this diverse group of technologies

together in two ways. First, it integrates electronics with

sensors or actuation devices, creating “smart” products or

subsystems. Second, it combines technologies to create 

larger modules or subsystems of the vehicle. Through its

technology and product development expertise, Stoneridge

differentiates itself from the competition based on the 

technology-driven, distinct advantages inherent in the

Company’s products.

In the area of “smart” products, Stoneridge has made signifi-

cant strides during recent years by advancing its products and

obsoleting competitive technologies through innovation. The

Company has developed a variety of new, higher value-added

“smart” products that offer much broader functionality than

their predecessors through the integration of electronics into

core sensor and actuation devices.

One area in which Stoneridge’s prod-

ucts are making a difference is airbag

technology, which has evolved to

improve safety for drivers, passengers

and children. New systems deploy

airbags more accurately based on seat

location. Stoneridge offers seat track

position sensors that enable automakers

to offer this safety enhancement. The

Company is expanding its occupant

safety product line with other products

including seat belt tension sensors and

child safety latch sensors.

Also in the area of enhanced safety,

Stoneridge provides active speed 

sensors for use in next-generation 

anti-lock braking systems (ABS), as

well as automatic transmission systems.

These sensors relay information on

wheel, transmission and engine speeds

to allow such systems to operate more

effectively. In addition, Stoneridge

offers solid-state pressure sensors for

use in vehicle stability management

systems in North America and Europe,

and temperature sensors for cooling

systems and exhaust gas recirculation

in diesel engines.

Stoneridge provides

customized switches

styled to augment 

the vehicle’s interior

design direction.
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Environmental concerns have resulted

in the adoption of stricter requirements

on fuel vapor leakage for all vehicles

manufactured in or exported into the

United States. Stoneridge offers sole-

noid valve products and filters to help

manufacturers meet these requirements

by preventing the release of emissions

into the atmosphere.

For commercial vehicles, Stoneridge

developed the first complete dashboard

module for use in multiplex control 

systems. These systems integrate power,

control and information hardware 

and software into a single assembly.

Stoneridge specializes in developing

electronic modules that interface with

vehicle systems for more efficient 

operation.

In the European Union, new regu-

lations on drivers’ hours and vehicle

speeds have mandated sophisticated

monitoring systems on commercial

vehicles. Stoneridge is leading the

transition from electromechanical to

electronic technology in this area 

with the development of a digital

tachograph that resides within the

vehicle and records driver times 

and other information.

Numerous other applications – both visible and hidden –

throughout automotive and commercial vehicles benefit from

Stoneridge’s cost-effective technologies. Customer-actuated

products, such as interior heat switches and headlamp

switches, are designed to operate efficiently with sophisticated

electronics on the inside, while complementing the style, feel,

sound, color and finish of the vehicle on the outside. Hidden

switches – embedded in brake pedals and transmission 

systems, for example – offer manufacturers a combination 

of reliability, high-quality performance, and compatibility

with the rest of their system designs.

GLOBAL EXPANSION AND COST REDUCTION

In recent years, Stoneridge has expanded its global operations

to match the movement of its customers to emerging and

lower-cost regions. With facilities in the United States,

Mexico, Europe and South America, the Company is able 

to provide global customers with cost-effective products 

tailored specifically to meet their needs.

During 2003, the Company established an Asian base for

product development. This location will allow Stoneridge 

to proliferate its technology and expand its global customer

base. Additionally, in recognition of the modernization and

emergence of China and India as viable low-cost production

regions and growing consumer markets, Stoneridge continues

to cultivate local manufacturing and supplier relationships 

in these areas.

Managing costs remains at the forefront of management’s 

priorities. Stoneridge strives to ensure cost competitiveness

and provide customers with the most cost-effective solutions.

The Company continuously improves manufacturing effi-

ciency through the implementation of Six Sigma and lean

manufacturing initiatives, including cost-effective automation

and semi-automated cell manufacturing where appropriate.

These initiatives have resulted in cost savings, improved 

Multiplexed 

architecture allows

customers to 

customize their

capabilities.
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performance and reduced investment in working capital.

Through these programs, the Company’s employees are able

to analyze problems, develop solutions, minimize deviations

and eliminate non-value-added activities in all processes.

In an effort to remain a low-cost producer in an increasingly

competitive global marketplace, Stoneridge continues to

transition manufacturing to low-cost locations, including

facilities in Estonia, Brazil and Mexico. These facilities 

enable the Company to provide global sourcing capacity 

to customers while maintaining low operating costs.

During 2003, Stoneridge opened an additional power and

signal distribution manufacturing facility in Monclova,

Mexico. This facility, as well as an expansion of Stoneridge’s

existing facility in Estonia, increased the Company’s low-cost

manufacturing floor space by 40 percent.

FOCUS ON THE CUSTOMER

A steadfast commitment to customer goals, combined with

intellectual expertise, provides Stoneridge a strong foundation

from which to serve its customer base. 

In recognition of its global capabilities and high level of 

customer focus, Stoneridge was one of a select group of 

suppliers to receive an inaugural Diamond Supplier Award 

in December 2003 from International Truck and Engine

Corporation. The award was based on suppliers’ performance

in terms of quality, cost, delivery and dedication to meeting

business goals.

Working in partnership with customers, Stoneridge’s 

engineers and designers leverage their knowledge of vehicle

electrical and electronic systems to develop custom-engineered,

application-specific solutions that address particular vehicle

requirements. To deliver cost-effective solutions for OEMs,

the Company deploys multifunctional teams, which include

design and process engineers and program management 

and quality specialists.

Stoneridge’s ability to integrate individual

components and modules enables the

Company to become a design stage 

partner and program manager with 

customers, who are increasingly seeking

suppliers capable of manufacturing 

complete systems and modules.

Few suppliers of automotive and 

commercial vehicle manufacturers can

match Stoneridge’s degree of experience,

skills and flexibility to design, engineer

and produce systems that meet the

changing needs of the marketplace and

the increasingly sophisticated demands

of the consumer. Through effective

solutions, responsive service, quick

turnaround and cost-efficient produc-

tion, Stoneridge’s entire organization is

dedicated to delivering excellent value

to its customers and shareholders.

Through effective solutions, responsive service, quick 

turnaround and cost-efficient production, Stoneridge’s

entire organization is dedicated to delivering excellent

value to its customers and shareholders.

Sophisticated 

electronic 

controlled 

instrumentation 

for the Ford GT. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

of financial condition and results of operations

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at 
the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. 

On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates estimates and 
assumptions used in its financial statements. The Company 
bases its estimates used on historical experience and on vari-
ous other factors that the Company believes to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis 
for making judgments about the carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sourc-
es. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

The Company believes the following are its “critical account-
ing policies” – those most important to the financial presen-
tation and those that require the most difficult, subjective or 
complex judgments.

Revenue Recognition and Sales Commitments – The Company 
recognizes revenues from the sale of products, net of actual 
and estimated returns of products sold based on authorized 
returns and historical trends in sales returns, at the point 
of passage of title, which is generally at the time of ship-
ment. The Company often enters into agreements with its 
customers at the beginning of a given vehicle’s life. Once 
such agreements are entered into, it is the Company’s obli-
gation to fulfill the customers’ purchasing requirements for 
the entire production life of the vehicle. These agreements 
generally may be terminated by our customers at any time, 
but usually are not.

Warranty Reserves – The Company’s warranty reserve is 
established based on the Company’s best estimate of the 
amounts necessary to settle future and existing claims on 
products sold as of the balance sheet date. This estimate 
is based on historical trends of units sold and payment 
amounts, combined with the Company’s current under-
standing of the status of existing claims. Estimating the 
warranty reserve requires the Company to forecast the reso-
lution of existing claims as well as expected future claims 
on products previously sold. While the Company believes 
that its warranty reserve is adequate and that the judgment 
applied is appropriate, such amounts estimated to be due 
and payable could differ materially from what will actu-
ally transpire in the future. The Company’s customers are 
increasingly seeking to hold suppliers responsible for prod-
uct warranties, which could impact the Company’s exposure 
to these costs. 

Bad Debts – The Company evaluates the collectibility of 
accounts receivable based on a combination of factors. In 
circumstances where the Company is aware of a specific 
customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations, a spe-
cific allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded against 
amounts due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the 
amount the Company reasonably believes will be collected. 
Additionally, the Company reviews historical trends for col-
lectibility in determining an estimate for its allowance for 
doubtful accounts. If economic circumstances change sub-
stantially, estimates of the recoverability of amounts due to 
the Company could be reduced by a material amount.

Inventory – Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or 
market. Cost is determined by the last-in, first-out (LIFO) 
method for U.S. inventories and by the first-in, first-out 
(FIFO) method for non-U.S. inventories. Where appropri-
ate, standard cost systems are utilized for purposes of deter-
mining cost and the standards are adjusted as necessary to 
ensure they approximate actual costs. Estimates of the lower 
of cost or market value of inventory are determined based 
upon current economic conditions, historical sales quantities 
and patterns and, in some cases, the specific risk of loss on 
specifically identified inventories.

Goodwill – In connection with the adoption of Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) 142, “Goodwill 
and Other Intangible Assets,” the Company discontinued 
its amortization of goodwill on January 1, 2002. In lieu of 
amortization, this standard requires that goodwill be tested 
for impairment as of the date of adoption, at least annually 
thereafter and whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. See 
Note 2 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
for more information on the Company’s application of this 
accounting standard, including the valuation techniques 
used to determine the fair value of goodwill.

Share-Based Compensation – Effective January 1, 2003, the 
Company adopted the fair value recognition provision of  
SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” 
and adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS 148, 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and 
Disclosure – an amendment of SFAS 123.”   In accordance 
with SFAS 148, the Company has adopted the fair value rec-
ognition provisions on a prospective basis for awards grant-
ed, modified and settled subsequent to January 1, 2003. The 
option awards cliff-vest at the end of the vesting period, and 
compensation expense is recognized ratably over the vesting 
period on a straight-line basis. See Note 2 to the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements for assumptions used to 
determine fair value.
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Results of Operations

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003
COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

Net Sales

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2003 decreased 
$29.8 million, or 4.7%, to $606.7 million from $636.5 mil-
lion in 2002. The reduction in sales was primarily the result 
of reduced sales from an exited product line and lower 
North American light vehicle production, offset by favorable 
foreign exchange rates. 

Sales for the year ended December 31, 2003 for North 
America decreased by $42.2 million to $492.6 million from 
$534.8 million in 2002. North American sales accounted for 
81.2% of total sales in 2003 compared with 84.0% in 2002. 
The decrease in North American sales was primarily due 
to the exited product line and lower North American light 
vehicle production. Sales in 2003 outside North America 
increased by $12.4 million to $114.1 million from $101.7 
million in 2002. Sales outside North America accounted for 
18.8% of total sales in 2003 compared with 16.0% in 2002. 
Favorable foreign exchange accounted for the increase in 
sales outside of North America in 2003.

Net sales for the Vehicle Management & Power Distribution 
operating segment were $289.7 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2003 as compared to $273.8 million for 
the corresponding period in 2002. This increase was pre-
dominately due to favorable currency exchange rates and 
increased content within the commercial vehicle market. Net 
sales for the Control Devices operating segment were $333.2 
million for the year ended December 31, 2003 as compared 
to $376.9 million for the corresponding period in 2002. 
This decrease was primarily attributable to reduced sales 
from an exited product line and lower North American light 
vehicle production. 

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2003 
decreased by $20.6 million, or 4.4%, to $450.6 million from 
$471.2 million in 2002. As a percentage of sales, cost of 
goods sold increased slightly to 74.3% in 2003 from 74.0% 
in 2002. The increase in cost of goods sold as a percentage 
of sales was primarily the result of reduced volumes, par-
tially offset by ongoing cost reduction initiatives. 

The Company maintains a strong focus on ensuring its cost 
competitiveness in the marketplace. In light of this focus, 
the Company established a new manufacturing facility in 
Mexico. The Company will continue to evaluate its cost 

structure on a product-by-product basis to determine the 
most competitive manufacturing locations for its products. 
In addition, the Company continues to pursue cost reduc-
tion initiatives, including Six Sigma, lean manufacturing and 
improved productivity. These initiatives are partially offset 
by a reduction in product selling prices. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses, 
including product development, increased by $6.7 million 
to $97.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 
from $91.0 million in 2002. As a percentage of sales, SG&A 
expenses increased to 16.1% in 2003 from 14.3 % in 2002. 

 This increase reflects increased investment in the Company’s 
design and development activities and increased sales and 
marketing efforts for solid state sensing, seat track position 
sensing, remote electronic displays and various other prod-
ucts. The increase is also attributable to the Company’s deci-
sion to adopt the fair value method of accounting for stock 
options. Under SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation,” compensation expense is measured at the 
date the option is granted using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model, and is then recognized ratably over the 
option’s vesting period on a straight-line basis. As a result 
of the adoption of the fair value method, the Company 
recognized $1.3 million of pre-tax, non-cash compensation 
expense for the year ended December 31, 2003. This adop-
tion was the result of the Company’s desire to increase finan-
cial reporting transparency to its shareholders as well as to 
pursue best practices for corporate governance.

Interest Expense, net

Net interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2003 
decreased by $7.0 million to $27.7 million from $34.6 mil-
lion for the same period in 2002. The decrease was primar-
ily attributable to lower debt levels.  Average outstanding 
indebtedness was $230.8 million and $286.1 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

Other (Income) Expense

Other income, which consisted of equity earnings of uncon-
solidated subsidiaries and other non-operating expenses, 
was $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. 
Other expense, which consisted of equity losses of uncon-
solidated subsidiaries and other non-operating expenses, 
was $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. 
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Income Before Income Taxes and 
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change

As a result of the foregoing, income before income taxes and 
cumulative effect of accounting change decreased by $1.3 
million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to $31.0 mil-
lion from $32.3 million in 2002.

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company recognized provisions for income taxes of 
$9.6 million, or 31.1% of pre-tax income, and $11.3 mil-
lion, or 34.8% of pre-tax income, for federal, state and for-
eign income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2003 
and 2002, respectively. The decrease in the effective tax 
rate was primarily due to tax refunds related to the comple-
tion of several strategic tax initiatives and to the higher 
proportion of non-U.S. pre-tax income, which is taxed at a 
lower rate than U.S. pre-tax income. The effective tax rate 
is expected to increase in future years pending certain pro-
posed tax legislation.

Income Before Cumulative Effect 
of Accounting Change

As a result of the foregoing, income before cumulative effect 
of accounting change increased by $0.3 million to $21.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2003 from $21.1 
million in 2002. 

Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, net of tax

In accordance with the transition provisions of SFAS 142, 
the Company completed the two-step transitional goodwill 
impairment analysis in 2002. As a result, the Company 
recorded as a cumulative effect of accounting change, a non-
cash, after-tax charge of $69.8 million, to write off a portion 
of the carrying value of goodwill. The Company performed 
an annual impairment test on goodwill during 2003 and 
no additional impairment was recognized. See Note 2 to 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements for more 
information on the Company’s application of this accounting 
standard.

Net Income (Loss)

As a result of the foregoing, the Company recognized net 
income of $21.4 million for the year ended December 31, 
2003, and a net loss of $48.8 million for the corresponding 
period in 2002.

Net income for the Vehicle Management & Power 
Distribution operating segment was $5.4 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2003 as compared to a net loss 

of $29.5 million for the corresponding period in 2002. 
Net income for the Control Devices operating segment was 
$16.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 as 
compared to a net loss of $19.3 million for the correspond-
ing period in 2002.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 
COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

Net Sales

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased 
$52.0 million, or 8.9%, to $636.5 million from $584.5 
million in 2001. Sales revenues in 2002 were favorably 
impacted by increased North American light and commer-
cial vehicle builds as well as new product launches.

Sales for the year ended December 31, 2002 for North 
America increased by $36.8 million to $534.8 million from 
$498.0 million in 2001. North American sales accounted for 
84.0% of total sales in 2002 compared with 85.2% in 2001. 
Sales in 2002 outside North America increased by $15.2 
million to $101.7 million from $86.5 million in 2001. Sales 
outside North America accounted for 16.0% of total sales in 
2002 compared with 14.8% in 2001.

Net sales for the Vehicle Management & Power Distribution 
operating segment were $273.8 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2002 as compared to $245.9 million for 
the corresponding period in 2001. Increased production 
volumes on existing programs and increased content per 
vehicle accounted for the change in sales. Net sales for the 
Control Devices operating segment were $376.9 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to $349.5 
million for the corresponding period in 2001, reflecting 
higher production volumes in the Company’s end markets 
and an incremental increase in revenue due to new product 
launches.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2002 
increased by $21.8 million, or 4.9%, to $471.2 million 
from $449.4 million in 2001. As a percentage of sales, cost 
of goods sold decreased to 74.0% in 2002 from 76.9% in 
2001. The improvement as a percent of sales was primarily 
attributable to increased production volumes and improved 
operating leverage as a result of cost reduction initiatives, 
including Six Sigma, lean manufacturing and improved pro-
ductivity, partially offset by pricing pressures.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

of financial condition and results of operations
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A expenses, including product development, decreased 
by $8.4 million to $91.0 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2002 from $99.4 million in 2001. As a per-
centage of sales, SG&A expenses decreased to 14.3% in 
2002 from 17.0% in 2001. The decrease was primarily 
attributable to the Company’s adoption of the non-amortiza-
tion of goodwill provisions of SFAS 142 on January 1, 2002. 
Goodwill amortization expense for the year ended December 
31, 2001 was $9.8 million. Excluding the impact of good-
will amortization expense, SG&A increased $1.4 million, 
or 1.6%, in 2002 compared to the corresponding period in 
2001. As a percentage of sales, SG&A expenses declined to 
14.3% from 15.3%, excluding the impact of goodwill amor-
tization expense.

Interest Expense, net

Net interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2002 
increased by $3.3 million to $34.6 million from $31.3 mil-
lion for the same period in 2001. The increase was primarily 
attributable to the termination of existing interest rate swap 
agreements as a result of the Company’s debt refinancing, 
offset by lower interest rates. These swaps, which are being 
amortized to interest expense, were fully amortized by the 
end of 2003. Average outstanding indebtedness was $286.1 
million and $317.9 million for the years ended December 
31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. 

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

The Company recognized a loss of $5.8 million during 
2002 in connection with the early extinguishment of debt 
related to the Company’s debt refinancing. See Note 4 to the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements for more infor-
mation on the Company’s debt refinancing.

Other Expense

Other expense, which primarily consisted of equity losses 
of unconsolidated subsidiaries and other non-operating 
expenses, was $1.6 million and $0.5 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. 

Income Before Income Taxes and 
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change

As a result of the foregoing, income before income taxes and 
cumulative effect of accounting change increased by $28.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2002 to $32.3 mil-
lion from $3.9 million in 2001.

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company recognized provisions for income taxes of 
$11.3 million and $1.0 million for federal, state and for-
eign income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2002 
and 2001, respectively. The increase in the effective tax 
rate to 34.8% in 2002 from 24.4% in 2001 was a result of 
non-recurring tax refunds in 2001, coupled with the fact 
that tax initiatives resulted in less of a relative benefit on 
higher 2002 operating income, compared to lower operating 
income in 2001. The effective tax rate is expected to increase 
in future years pending certain proposed tax legislation.

Income Before Cumulative Effect 
of Accounting Change

As a result of the foregoing, income before cumulative effect of 
accounting change increased by $18.1 million to $21.1 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2002 from $2.9 million in 
2001. 

Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, net of tax

In accordance with the transition provisions of SFAS 142, 
the Company completed the two-step transitional goodwill 
impairment analysis in 2002. As a result, the Company 
recorded as a cumulative effect of accounting change, a non-
cash, after-tax charge of $69.8 million, to write off a portion 
of the carrying value of goodwill. The Company performed 
an annual impairment test on goodwill and no additional 
impairment was recognized. See Note 2 to the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements for more information on 
the Company’s application of this accounting standard.

Net (Loss) Income

As a result of the foregoing, the Company recognized a net 
loss of $48.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, 
and net income of $2.9 million for the corresponding period 
in 2001.

Net loss for the Vehicle Management & Power Distribution 
operating segment was $29.5 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2002 as compared to $11.9 million for the 
corresponding period in 2001. Net loss for the Control 
Devices operating segment was $19.3 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2002 as compared to net income of 
$14.8 million for the corresponding period in 2001.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities was $72.4 million 
and $95.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 
and 2002, respectively. The decrease in net cash from oper-
ating activities of $23.2 million was primarily attributable to 
a reduction in contribution from lower levels of operating 
assets and liabilities, the loss on extinguishment of debt in 
2002, and a lower contribution from deferred income tax. 
These items represented $12.3 million, $5.8 million, and 
$3.6 million, respectively. The decrease in deferred income 
taxes was primarily attributable to tax credits recognized in 
2003 as assets to be used in future periods.

Net cash used by investing activities was $25.2 million and 
$14.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 
2002, respectively. This increase primarily related to an 
increase in capital expenditures. Capital expenditures for 
2003 included, among other things, expenditures for solid 
state sensing, seat track position sensing, instrument clusters 
and investments in lower cost manufacturing locations. 

Net cash used by financing activities was $51.7 million and 
$59.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 
2002, respectively, and primarily related to the reduction of 
the Company’s debt obligations in both periods. See Note 4 
to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for infor-
mation on the Company’s senior notes and credit agreement, 
including availability on the Company’s revolving facility.

The Company has entered into foreign currency forward 
purchase contracts with a notional value of 22.6 million of 
Swedish krona to reduce exposure related to the Company’s 
krona denominated debt obligations. The estimated fair 
value of these forward contracts at December 31, 2003, per 
quoted market sources, was $(0.3) million. These forward 
contracts are marked to market, with gains and losses rec-
ognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.  The 
Company’s foreign exchange contracts substantially offset 
losses and gains on the underlying foreign denominated 
debt obligations and receivables. The Company does not use 
derivatives for speculative or profit-motivated purposes. 

The following table summarizes the Company’s future cash 
outflows resulting from financial contracts and commit-
ments, as of December 31, 2003:

 Contractual  Less than 1–3 4–5 After 5
 Obligations: Total 1 year years years years

Long-term debt $ 200,662 $ 417 $ 245 $ --  $ 200,000
Operating leases  13,835  4,378  5,233  3,078  1,146
   Total contractual
   obligations $ 214,497 $ 4,795 $ 5,478 $ 3,078 $ 201,146

Future capital expenditures are expected to be consistent 
with recent levels and future organic growth is expected to 
be funded through cash flows from operations. Management 
will continue to focus on reducing its weighted average cost 
of capital and believes that cash flows from operations and 
the availability of funds from the Company’s credit facilities 
will provide sufficient liquidity to meet the Company’s future 
growth and operating needs. 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

See Note 2 to the Company’s consolidated financial state-
ments.

Inflation and International Presence

Management believes that the Company’s operations have 
not been adversely affected by inflation. By operating inter-
nationally, the Company is affected by the economic condi-
tions of certain countries. Based on the current economic 
conditions in these countries, management believes the 
Company is not significantly exposed to adverse economic 
conditions.

Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk 

From time to time, the Company is exposed to certain mar-
ket risks, primarily resulting from the effects of changes in 
interest rates. To reduce exposures to market risks resulting 
from fluctuations in interest rates, the Company uses a com-
bination of variable and fixed rate debt. During 2003 the 
Company repaid the entire remaining balance of its variable 
term debt. This, coupled with the fact that the Company’s 
revolving facility remains undrawn, resulted in all of the 
Company’s debt at December 31, 2003 being fixed rate debt. 

The Company’s risks related to commodity price and foreign 
currency exchange risks have historically not been material. 
The Company does not expect the effects of these risks to be 
material in the future based on current operating and eco-
nomic conditions in the countries and markets in which it 
operates. Therefore, a 10.0% change in the value of the U.S. 
dollar would not significantly affect the Company’s results of 
operations, financial position or cash flows.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

of financial condition and results of operations
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

(in thousands, except per share data)

The following table sets forth selected historical financial data for the Company and should be read in conjunction with 
the consolidated financial statements and notes related thereto and other financial information included elsewhere herein.  
The selected historical data was derived from the Company’s consolidated financial statements.   

 For the years ended December 31,  
                                                                                                                                      2003                          2002                           2001                          2000                          1999

Statement of Operations Data:                                                                                                        
Net sales:                                                                                                                                              
 Vehicle Management & Power Distribution                               $ 289,652           $ 273,804           $ 245,881           $ 263,022           $ 285,381
 Control Devices                                                                            333,176              376,896               349,510              413,830              399,066
 Eliminations                                                                                   (16,163)              (14,193)              (10,923)                (9,660)                (9,226)
 Consolidated                                                                             $ 606,665           $ 636,507           $ 584,468           $ 667,192           $ 675,221

Gross profit  (A)                                                                                156,030              165,319               135,082              171,112              187,872

Operating income                                                                               58,370                74,320                 35,725                76,506                97,305

Income before income taxes and 
 cumulative effect of accounting change                                         31,020                32,318                   3,896                46,794                67,022

Income before cumulative effect of accounting change                     21,379                21,056                   2,946                32,709                41,172

Net income (loss): (B)                                                                                                                           
 Vehicle Management & Power Distribution                               $     5,409           $ (29,470)          $  (11,879)          $    (5,889)          $     5,572
 Control Devices                                                                              15,970               (19,308)                14,825                38,598                35,600
 Consolidated                                                                             $   21,379           $ (48,778)          $     2,946           $   32,709           $   41,172

Basic income before cumulative 
 effect of accounting change per share                                      $       0.95           $       0.94           $       0.13           $       1.46           $       1.84

Diluted income before cumulative 
 effect of accounting change per share                                      $       0.94           $       0.93           $       0.13           $       1.46           $       1.84

Basic net income (loss) per share                                                  $       0.95           $     (2.18)           $       0.13           $       1.46           $       1.84
Diluted net income (loss) per share                                               $       0.94           $      (2.16)          $       0.13           $       1.46           $       1.84

Other Data:                                                                                                                                         
Product development expenses                                                     $   28,714           $   25,332           $   26,996           $   26,750           $   21,976
Capital expenditures                                                                           26,382                14,656                 23,968                28,720                17,589
Depreciation and amortization (C)                                                      22,188                21,900                 28,844                28,026                27,850

Balance Sheet Data:                                                                                                                          
Working capital                                                                             $   71,046           $   85,462           $   46,399           $   80,069           $   77,112
Total assets                                                                                       579,667              571,127               670,933              696,995              698,309
Long-term debt, less current portion                                                200,245              248,918               249,720              296,079              331,898
Shareholders’ equity                                                                         243,406              215,902               259,607              262,186              231,628

(A) Gross profit represents net sales less cost of goods sold.

(B) In accordance with the transition provisions of SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” the Company determined during 2002 
that the carrying value of the Company’s goodwill exceeded its fair value. Effective January 1, 2002, the Company recorded a non-cash, after-tax 
impairment charge of $69,834 as a cumulative effect of accounting change.  See Note 2 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for more 
information.

During the second quarter of 2002, the Company recognized a non-cash, pre-tax loss on extinguishment of debt of $5,771, as the result of an early 
extinguishment of debt.  

(C) These amounts represent depreciation and amortization on fixed and certain intangible assets.
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                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         December 31,        
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      2003                                  2002

Assets                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
Current Assets:                                                                                                                                                                                                             
 Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                                                     $   24,142                  $   27,235
 Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts                                                                                                                       
  of $2,904 and $3,020, for 2003 and 2002, respectively                                                                                          89,161                       79,342
 Inventories, net                                                                                                                                                            48,642                       51,139
 Prepaid expenses and other                                                                                                                                          9,825                       12,055
 Deferred income taxes                                                                                                                                                   7,856                         5,904
  Total current assets                                                                                                                                                179,626                     175,675

Property, Plant and Equipment, net                                                                                                                               116,262                     111,838

Other Assets:                                                                                                                                                                                                                
 Goodwill                                                                                                                                                                    255,292                     255,292
 Investments and other, net                                                                                                                                          28,487                       28,322
Total Assets                                                                                                                                                                 $ 579,667                  $ 571,127

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity                                                                                                                                                                        
Current Liabilities:                                                                                                                                                                                                        
 Current portion of long-term debt                                                                                                                          $        417                  $     1,992
 Accounts payable                                                                                                                                                        53,594                       43,151
 Accrued expenses and other                                                                                                                                        54,569                       45,070
  Total current liabilities                                                                                                                                           108,580                       90,213

Long-Term Liabilities:                                                                                                                                                                                    
 Long-term debt, net of current portion                                                                                                                      200,245                     248,918
 Deferred income taxes                                                                                                                                                 25,288                       15,278
 Other liabilities                                                                                                                                                              2,148                            816
  Total long-term liabilities                                                                                                                                       227,681                     265,012

Shareholders’ Equity:                                                                                                                                                                                                    
 Preferred shares, without par value, 5,000 authorized, none issued                                                                                    --                               --
 Common shares, without par value, 60,000 authorized, 22,459 and 22,399 issued                                                                                 
  and outstanding at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, with no stated value                                                    --                               --
 Additional paid-in capital                                                                                                                                          143,535                     141,516
 Retained earnings                                                                                                                                                       98,758                       77,379
 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)                                                                                                          1,113                        (2,993)
  Total shareholders’ equity                                                                                                                                      243,406                     215,902
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity                                                                                                                   $ 579,667                  $ 571,127

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands)
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                                                                                                                                                                                                                        For the years ended December 31,
                                                                                                                                                                                                            2003                          2002                          2001

Net Sales                                                                                                                                             $ 606,665           $ 636,507           $ 584,468

Costs and Expenses:

 Cost of goods sold                                                                                                                              450,635              471,188               449,386

 Selling, general and administrative                                                                                                      97,660                90,999                 99,357

Operating Income                                                                                                                                     58,370                74,320                 35,725

 Interest expense, net                                                                                                                            27,651                34,616                 31,308

 Loss on extinguishment of debt                                                                                                                    --                  5,771                         --

 Other (income) expense, net                                                                                                                     (301)                 1,615                      521

Income Before Income Taxes and Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change                                             31,020                32,318                   3,896

 Provision for income taxes                                                                                                                     9,641                11,262                      950

Income Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change                                                                          21,379                21,056                   2,946

 Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax                                                                                      --               (69,834)                        --

Net Income (Loss)                                                                                                                                $   21,379           $  (48,778)          $     2,946

Basic Net Income (Loss) per Share:

 Income before cumulative effect of accounting change                                                                  $       0.95           $       0.94           $       0.13

 Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax                                                                                      --                  (3.12)                         --

 Basic net income (loss) per share                                                                                                    $       0.95           $     (2.18)           $       0.13

Diluted Net Income (Loss) per Share:                                                                                                                                                                           

 Income before cumulative effect of accounting change                                                                  $       0.94           $       0.93           $       0.13

 Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax                                                                                      --                  (3.09)                         --

 Diluted net income (loss) per share                                                                                                 $       0.94           $     (2.16)           $       0.13

Basic Weighted Average Shares Outstanding                                                                                           22,415                22,399                 22,397

Diluted Weighted Average Shares Outstanding                                                                                        22,683                22,627                 22,467

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)
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                                                                                                                                                                                                                       For the years ended December 31,
                                                                                                                                                                                                            2003                          2002                          2001

Operating Activities:                                                                                                                               
Net income (loss)                                                                                                                                 $   21,379           $  (48,778)          $     2,946
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities --                                                                                         
 Depreciation and amortization                                                                                                             25,079                26,413                 29,568
 Deferred income taxes                                                                                                                            8,799                12,408                   7,052
 Loss (gain) on sale of fixed assets                                                                                                             482                    (136)                       84
 Equity in (earnings) losses of unconsolidated subsidiaries                                                                    (1,276)                 1,188                    (506)
 Share based compensation                                                                                                                     1,300                        --                         --
 Loss on extinguishment of debt                                                                                                                     --                  5,771                         --
 Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax                                                                                      --                69,834                         --
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities --                                                                                                                                                          
  Accounts receivable, net                                                                                                                    (6,698)               14,845                    (960)
  Inventories                                                                                                                                         4,876                  5,223                 14,462
  Prepaid expenses and other                                                                                                                  707                  9,508                 (3,807)
  Other assets                                                                                                                                         (556)                 1,951                   3,293
  Accounts payable                                                                                                                               8,274                 (9,193)                  6,548
  Accrued expenses and other                                                                                                               9,988                  6,591                   3,465
   Net cash provided by operating activities                                                                                    72,354                95,625                 62,145

Investing Activities:                                                                                                                                                                                                 
Capital expenditures                                                                                                                                (26,382)              (14,656)              (23,968)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets                                                                                                              1,212                     311                         --
Other                                                                                                                                                                (3)                        2                      550
   Net cash used by investing activities                                                                                           (25,173)              (14,343)              (23,418)

Financing Activities:                                                                                                                                                                                                
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes                                                                                                             --              200,000                         --
Extinguishment of revolving facility                                                                                                                   --               (37,641)                        --
Extinguishment of term debt                                                                                                                             --             (226,139)                        --
Net (repayments) borrowings under revolving credit facilities                                                                          --               (14,397)                  1,408
Proceeds from long-term debt                                                                                                                           --              100,000                         --
Repayments of long-term debt                                                                                                                (52,095)              (65,030)              (38,197)
Proceeds from exercise of share options                                                                                                       444                        --                         --
Debt issuance costs                                                                                                                                           --               (10,694)                (3,053)
Interest rate swap termination costs                                                                                                                 --                 (5,274)                        --
   Net cash used by financing activities                                                                                          (51,651)              (59,175)              (39,842)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents                                                                  1,377                     759                    (110)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                  (3,093)               22,866                 (1,225)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period                                                                                   27,235                  4,369                   5,594
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period                                                                                        $   24,142           $   27,235           $     4,369

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest                                                                                                                          $   25,675           $   26,277           $   29,534
Cash received for income taxes                                                                                                           $    (5,322)          $    (5,313)          $   (9,229)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
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                                                                                                                                                                                        Accumulated   
                                                                                                                                                                                        Other Total
                                                                                                                   Number                Additional               Retained Comprehensive Shareholders’  Comprehensive 
                                                                                                                  of shares            Paid-In Capital            Earnings Income (Loss) Equity Income (Loss)

Balance, January 1, 2001                                                 22,397            $141,506         $123,211         $    (2,531)        $ 262,186 

Net income                                                                                  --                         --               2,946                        --                2,946 $ 2,946
Other comprehensive loss:      

 Cumulative effect of change in 
  accounting for derivatives                                                   --                        --                    --                  (268)               (268)  (268)

 Change in fair value of derivatives                                          --                         --                     --                (4,042)             (4,042)  (4,042)

 Currency translation adjustments                                            --                         --                     --                (1,215)             (1,215)  (1,215)

  Comprehensive loss                                                                                                                                                                      $ (2,579)
                                                                                                                                                                                    

Balance, December 31, 2001                                          22,397              141,506           126,157                (8,056)          259,607   

Net loss                                                                                       --                         --            (48,778)                       --             (48,778) $ (48,778)

Exercise of share options                                                             2                       10                     --                        --                     10  --

Other comprehensive loss:                                                                                                                           

 Minimum pension liability adjustments                                   --                         --                     --                   (821)                (821)  (821)

 Unrealized loss on marketable securities                                 --                         --                     --                   (202)                (202)  (202)

 Change in fair value of derivatives                                          --                         --                     --                 1,014                1,014  1,014

 Amortization of terminated derivatives                                   --                         --                     --                 2,677                2,677  2,677

 Currency translation adjustments                                            --                         --                     --                 2,395                2,395  2,395

  Comprehensive loss                                                                                                                                                                      $ (43,715)
                                                                                                                                                                                    

Balance, December 31, 2002                                          22,399              141,516             77,379                (2,993)          215,902   

Net income                                                                                  --                         --             21,379                        --              21,379 $ 21,379

Exercise of share options                                                           60                     719                     --                        --                   719  --

Share based compensation expense                                            --                  1,300                     --                        --                1, 300  --

Other comprehensive income:                                                                                                                     

 Minimum pension liability adjustments                                   --                         --                     --                   (443)                (443)  (443)

 Unrealized gain on marketable securities                                --                         --                     --                    121                   121  121

 Amortization of terminated derivatives                                   --                         --                     --                    620                   620  620

 Currency translation adjustments                                            --                         --                     --                 3,808                3,808  3,808

  Comprehensive income                                                                                                                                                                 $ 25,485
      

Balance, December 31, 2003                                          22,459            $143,535         $ 98,758          $     1,113          $ 243,406

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

                                                                                                                                 

                                                                                                                      

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in thousands, except share and per share data, unless otherwise indicated)

Note 1

ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

Stoneridge, Inc. (Stoneridge) and its subsidiaries are inde-
pendent designers and manufacturers of engineered electri-
cal and electronic components, modules and systems for the 
automotive, medium- and heavy-duty truck, agricultural and 
off-highway vehicle markets. 

Note 2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include 
the accounts of Stoneridge and its wholly-owned and 
majority-owned subsidiaries (collectively, the Company). 
Intercompany transactions and balances have been elimi-
nated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all short-term investments with 
original maturities of three months or less to be cash equiva-
lents. Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approxi-
mates fair value.

Accounts Receivable Concentrations

Revenues are principally generated from the automotive, 
medium- and heavy-duty truck, agricultural and off-high-
way vehicle markets. Due to the nature of these industries, 
a significant portion of sales and related accounts receivable 
are concentrated in a relatively small number of customers. 
In 2003, the Company’s top four customers individually 
accounted for approximately 17%, 11%, 9% and 9% of net 
sales, while the top five customers accounted for 53% of 
net sales. In 2002, the Company’s top four customers indi-
vidually accounted for approximately 13%, 13%, 10% and 
10% of net sales, while the top five customers accounted for 
approximately 52% of net sales. In 2001, the Company’s top 
four customers individually accounted for approximately 
14%, 13%, 12% and 12% of net sales, while the top five 
customers accounted for 57% of net sales. Accounts receiv-
able from the Company’s five largest customers aggregated  
$51,240 and $30,363 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost 
is determined using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method for 
approximately 68% and 73% of the Company’s invento-

ries at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and by 
the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for all other invento-
ries. Inventory cost includes material, labor and overhead. 
Inventories consist of the following at December 31:

 2003 2002

Raw materials $ 25,035 $ 28,157
Work in progress  10,414  10,229
Finished goods  13,903  13,313
  49,352  51,699
Less: LIFO reserve  (710)  (560)

 Total $ 48,642 $ 51,139

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and con-
sist of the following at December 31:
 2003 2002

Land and land improvements $ 5,677 $ 5,583
Buildings and improvements  42,456  45,003
Machinery and equipment  117,153  99,711
Office furniture and fixtures  27,986  26,205
Tooling  57,602  50,436
Vehicles  589  668
Leasehold improvements  1,237  1,249
  252,700  228,855
Less: Accumulated depreciation   (136,438)  (117,017)

 $ 116,262 $ 111,838

Depreciation is provided by both the straight-line and accel-
erated methods over the estimated useful lives of the assets. 
Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 
2003, 2002 and 2001 was $21,904, $21,083 and $18,664, 
respectively. Depreciable lives within each property classifi-
cation are as follows:

Buildings and improvements 10–40 years
Machinery and equipment 5–20 years
Office furniture and fixtures 3–10 years
Tooling 2–5 years
Vehicles 3–5 years
Leasehold improvements 3–8 years

Maintenance and repair expenditures that are not considered 
improvements and do not extend the useful life of prop-
erty are charged to expense as incurred. Expenditures for 
improvements and major renewals are capitalized. When 
assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the related 
cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the 
accounts, and any gain or loss on the disposition is credited 
or charged to income.
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Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) 
142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill is 
subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment by 
applying a fair value-based test. In accordance with the tran-
sition provisions of SFAS 142, the Company completed the 
two-step transitional goodwill impairment analysis for both 
reporting units of the Company as of January 1, 2002. The 
initial impairment test indicated that the carrying values of 
the reporting units exceeded the corresponding fair values 
of the reporting units, which were determined based on a 
combination of valuation techniques including the guideline 
company method, the transaction method and the discount-
ed cash flow method. The implied fair value of goodwill in 
these reporting units was then determined through the allo-
cation of the fair values to the underlying assets and liabili-
ties. The January 1, 2002 carrying value of the goodwill in 
these reporting units exceeded their implied fair value by 
$90.1 million. The $69.8 million write-down of goodwill 
to its fair value, which is net of $20.3 million of related tax 
benefits, was reported as a cumulative effect of accounting 
change in the accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments as of January 1, 2002.  The Company performed an 
annual impairment test of goodwill as of October 1, 2002 
and 2003 and no additional impairment was recognized. 

The change in the carrying value of goodwill by reportable 
operating segment during 2002 was as follows:

 Vehicle 
 Management 
 & Power Control 
 Distribution Devices Total

Balance at 
 January 1, 2002 $ 31,800 $ 313,592 $ 345,392
Cumulative effect of
 accounting change  (31,800)  (58,300)  (90,100)
Balance at
 December 31, 2002 $ -- $ 255,292 $ 255,292

There was no change in the carrying value of goodwill by 
reportable operating segment during 2003. 

The pro forma consolidated net income (loss) as if SFAS 142 
had been in effect at the beginning of fiscal 2001 is as fol-
lows:

                                                                 For the years ended December 31,

 2003 2002 2001

Reported income before
 cumulative effect
 of accounting change $ 21,379 $ 21,056 $   2,946
Add back: 
 Goodwill amortization,
 net of tax  --  --  6,867
Pro forma income before
 cumulative effect 
 of accounting change   21,379  21,056  9,813
Cumulative effect of 
 accounting change, net of tax   --  (69,834)  --
Pro forma net income (loss) $ 21,379 $ (48,778) $   9,813

                                                                 For the years ended December 31,

 2003 2002 2001

Basic net income (loss) per share:     
 Reported income before 
  cumulative effect of 
  accounting change $ 0.95 $ 0.94 $   0.13
 Add back: Goodwill amortization,
  net of tax  --  --  0.31
 Pro forma income before 
  cumulative effect of 
  accounting change  0.95  0.94  0.44
 Cumulative effect of
  accounting change, net of tax   --  (3.12)  --
 Pro forma net income (loss)
  per share $ 0.95 $ (2.18) $ 0.44

                                                                 For the years ended December 31,

 2003 2002 2001

Diluted net income (loss) per share:     
 Reported income before
  cumulative effect of
  accounting change $ 0.94 $ 0.93 $ 0.13
 Add back: Goodwill amortization,
  net of tax  --  --  0.31
 Pro forma income before
  cumulative effect of
  accounting change  0.94  0.93  0.44
 Cumulative effect of 
  accounting change, net of tax   --  (3.09)  --
 Pro forma net income (loss)
  per share $ 0.94 $   (2.16) $ 0.44
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The Company had the following intangible assets subject to 
amortization at December 31:
 2003 2002

Patents:   
 Gross carrying amount $ 2,779 $ 2,779
 Less: Accumulated amortization  (1,522)  (1,243)
 Net carrying amount $ 1,257 $ 1,536

Aggregate amortization expense on patents was $279 and 
$817 for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively. Estimated annual amortization expense is $279 
for 2004-2006 and $210 for 2007-2008.

Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the 
following at December 31:

 2003 2002

Compensation-related obligations $ 16,173 $ 14,899
Insurance-related obligations  6,796  7,443
Income tax-related obligations  9,945  2,740
Warranty-related obligations  5,515  4,248
Other  16,140  15,740
 $ 54,569 $ 45,070

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the provi-
sions of SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Deferred 
income taxes reflect the tax consequences on future years of 
differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and 
their financial reporting amounts. Future tax benefits are 
recognized to the extent that realization of such benefits is 
more likely than not.

Currency Translation 

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries, where the 
local currency is the functional currency, are translated into 
U.S. dollars using exchange rates in effect at the period 
end for assets and liabilities and average exchange rates 
during each reporting period for the results of operations. 
Adjustments resulting from translation of financial state-
ments are reflected as a component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss). Foreign currency transactions 
are remeasured into the functional currency using transla-
tion rates in effect at the time of the transaction, with the 
resulting adjustments included in the results of operations.

Revenue Recognition and Sales Commitments

The Company recognizes revenues from the sale of prod-
ucts, net of actual and estimated returns of products sold 
based on authorized returns and historical trends in sales 
returns, at the point of passage of title, which is generally 
at the time of shipment. The Company often enters into 
agreements with its customers at the beginning of a given 
vehicle’s expected production life. Once such agreements 
are entered into, it is the Company’s obligation to fulfill the 
customers’ purchasing requirements for the entire produc-
tion life of the vehicle. These agreements generally may be 
terminated by the Company’s customers at any time, but 
usually are not. 

Bad Debts 

The Company evaluates the collectibility of accounts receiv-
able based on a combination of factors. In circumstances 
where the Company is aware of a specific customer’s inabil-
ity to meet its financial obligations, a specific allowance for 
doubtful accounts is recorded against amounts due to reduce 
the net recognized receivable to the amount the Company 
reasonably believes will be collected. Additionally, the 
Company reviews historical trends for collectibility in deter-
mining an estimate for its allowance for doubtful accounts. 
If economic circumstances change substantially, estimates of 
the recoverability of amounts due to the Company could be 
reduced by a material amount.

Warranty Reserves

The Company’s warranty reserve is established based on the 
Company’s best estimate of the amounts necessary to settle 
future and existing claims on products sold as of the balance 
sheet date. While the Company believes that its warranty 
reserve is adequate and that the judgment applied is appropri-
ate, such amounts estimated to be due and payable could dif-
fer materially from what will actually transpire in the future.

The Company’s warranty reserve at December 31, 2003 
and 2002 was $5,515 and $4,248, respectively. These war-
ranty reserve balances included payments made of $3,388 
and $3,474, costs recognized for warranties issued during 
the period of $4,644 and $4,443 and changes in estimates 
for preexisting warranties of $11 and $104, for the periods 
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Product Development Expenses

Expenses associated with the development of new products 
and changes to existing products are charged to expense as 
incurred. These costs amounted to $28,714, $25,332 and 
$26,996 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Share-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2003, the Company had two share-based 
employee compensation plans, which are described more 
fully in Note 7. Prior to 2003, the Company accounted for 
employee share options granted under these plans using the 
intrinsic value method provisions of Accounting Principles 
Board Opinion No. (APB) 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued 
to Employees,” and related interpretations. No share-based 
employee compensation cost was recognized in 2002 and 
2001, as all options granted under these plans had an exer-
cise price equal to the market value of the underlying com-
mon shares on the date of grant. Effective January 1, 2003, 
the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions 
of SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” 
prospectively to all employee awards granted, modi-
fied or settled after January 1, 2003, under the disclosure 
provisions of SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation – Transition and Disclosure – an amendment 
of SFAS 123.”  Awards under the Company’s plans cliff-vest 
over periods ranging from one to five years, and compensation 
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis. Therefore, the 
cost related to share-based employee compensation recognized 
in 2003 is less than that which would have been recognized 
if the fair value based method had been applied to all awards 
granted since the original effective date of SFAS 123. The fol-
lowing table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and net 
income (loss) per share if the fair value based method had been 
applied to all outstanding and unvested awards in each period.

 For the years ended December 31,

 2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss), as reported $ 21,379 $ (48,778) $ 2,946
Add:  Share-based employee 
 compensation expense included
 in reported net income,
 net of related tax effects  810  --  --
Deduct:  Total share-based
 employee compensation expense
 determined under the fair value
 based method for all awards,
 net of related tax effects  (1,306)  (1,347)  (812)
Pro forma net income (loss) $ 20,883 $ (50,125) $ 2,134

Net income (loss) per share:  
 Basic – as reported $ 0.95 $ (2.18) $ 0.13
 Basic – pro forma $ 0.93 $ (2.24) $ 0.10

 Diluted – as reported $ 0.94 $ (2.16) $ 0.13
 Diluted – pro forma $ 0.92 $ (2.22) $ 0.10

The fair value of these options was estimated at the date of 
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the 
following weighted-average assumptions:

 2003 2002 2001

Risk-free interest rate 1.75% – 2.05% 4.71% 5.19% – 5.26%
Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Expected lives 3.0 years 7.5 years 7.5 years
Expected volatility 46.52% – 46.59% 59.47% 40.40% – 41.00%

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for 
use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have 
no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Option 
valuation models require the input of highly subjective 
assumptions including expected share price volatility and 
expected option lives.

Financial Instruments and 
Derivative Financial Instruments 

Financial instruments held by the Company include cash 
and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, 
long-term debt and forward currency contracts. The carry-
ing value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable 
and accounts payable is considered to be representative of 
fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. 
The carrying value of the Company’s variable rate debt 
approximates its fair value. Refer to Note 9 of the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements for fair value disclosures of 
the Company’s fixed rate debt, and foreign currency forward 
contracts.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
including certain self-insured risks and liabilities, disclo-
sure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Because actual results could differ from those estimates, 
the Company revises its estimates and assumptions as new 
information becomes available.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Net income (loss) per share amounts for all periods are pre-
sented in accordance with SFAS 128, “Earnings per Share,” 
which requires the presentation of basic net income (loss) 
per share and diluted net income (loss) per share. Basic 
net income (loss) per share was computed by dividing net 
income (loss) by the weighted-average number of com-
mon shares outstanding for each respective period. Diluted 
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net income (loss) per share was calculated by dividing net 
income (loss) by the weighted-average of all potentially dilu-
tive common shares that were outstanding during the peri-
ods presented. Actual weighted-average shares outstanding 
used in calculating basic and diluted net income (loss) per 
share were as follows:

                                                                 For the years ended December 31,

 2003 2002 2001

Basic weighted average
shares outstanding  22,415  22,399  22,397
Effect of dilutive securities  268  228  70
Diluted weighted average 
shares outstanding  22,683  22,627  22,467

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

SFAS 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income,” establishes 
standards for the reporting and display of comprehensive 
income. Other comprehensive income includes foreign cur-
rency translation adjustments and gains and losses from 
certain foreign currency transactions, the effective portion 
of gains and losses on certain hedging activities, minimum 
pension liability adjustments, and unrealized gains and loss-
es on available-for-sale marketable securities.

Balances of each after-tax component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss), as reported in the Statement 
of Consolidated Shareholders’ Equity as of December 31, are 
as follows:
 2003 2002 2001

Currency translation adjustments $ 2,458 $ (1,350) $ (3,746)
Change in fair value of derivatives  --  (620)  (4,310)
Minimum pension
 liability adjustments  (1,264)  (821)  --
Unrealized loss on
 marketable securities  (81)  (202)  --
 $ 1,113 $ (2,993) $ (8,056)

Impairment of Assets 

The Company reviews its long-lived assets and identifiable 
intangible assets with finite lives for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. No significant 
impairment charges were recorded in 2003, 2002 and 2001. 
Impairment would be recognized when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the 
asset may not be recovered. Measurement of the amount 
of impairment may be based on appraisal, market values 
of similar assets or estimated discounted future cash flows 
resulting from the use and ultimate disposition of the asset.

Accounting Standards

In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB) issued SFAS 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements 
No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 
13, and Technical Corrections.” Among other things, 
SFAS 145 requires gains and losses on extinguishments 
of debt to be classified as income or loss from continuing 
operations rather than as extraordinary items as previously 
required under SFAS 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from 
Extinguishment of Debt - an amendment of APB Opinion 
No. 30.” Any gain or loss on extinguishment of debt that 
was classified as an extraordinary item in prior periods pre-
sented that does not meet the criteria in APB 30, “Reporting 
the Results of Operations – Reporting the Effects of Disposal 
of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and 
Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions,” for clas-
sification as an extraordinary item, shall be reclassified. The 
Company adopted this Statement effective January 1, 2003, 
and accordingly, the extraordinary loss of $3.6 million, net 
of tax, recorded in the second quarter of 2002 as a result 
of the early extinguishment of debt was reclassified as a 
component of income from continuing operations in 2003. 
Therefore, income before income taxes and cumulative effect 
of accounting change as well as the income tax provision for 
the year ended December 31, 2002 were restated as follows:

Income before income taxes and  cumulative
 effect of accounting change, as originally reported $ 38,089
Loss on extinguishment of debt, pre-tax  (5,771)
Income before income taxes and 
 cumulative effect of accounting change, as restated $ 32,318

Provision for income taxes, as originally reported $ 13,426
Tax benefit from loss on extinguishment of debt  (2,164)
Provision for income taxes, as restated $ 11,262

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 146, “Accounting for 
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.”  SFAS 146 
addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associ-
ated with exit and disposal activities and nullifies Emerging 
Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for 
Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs 
to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a 
Restructuring).”  The provisions of SFAS 146 are effective for 
exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 
31, 2002. The adoption of SFAS 146 did not have a material 
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS 150, “Accounting for 
Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both 
Liabilities and Equity.”  SFAS 150 establishes standards for 
how public companies classify and measure in their state-
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ment of financial position certain financial instruments with 
characteristics of both liabilities and equity. This Statement 
became effective for financial instruments entered into or 
modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise was effective at 
the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 
15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 150 did not impact the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued interpretation (FIN) 
46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - an 
Interpretation of ARB No. 51.”  FIN 46 requires uncon-
solidated variable interest entities to be consolidated by 
their primary beneficiaries if the entities do not effectively 
disperse the risks and rewards of ownership among their 
owners and other parties involved. The provisions of FIN 46 
were applicable immediately to all variable interest entities 
created after January 31, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB 
issued FIN 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities 
– an Interpretation of ARB No. 51 (revised December 
2003),” which includes significant amendments to previ-
ously issued FIN 46. Among other things, FIN 46R includes 
revised transition dates for public entities. The Company is 
now required to adopt the provisions of FIN 46R no later 
than the end of the first reporting period that ends after 
March 15, 2004. The adoption of this interpretation is not 
expected to have a material effect on the Company’s financial 
statements or results of operations.

Reclassifications 

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to con-
form to their 2003 presentation in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Note 3

INVESTMENTS

The Company has a 50% interest in PST Industria Eletronica 
da Amazonia Ltda. (PST), a Brazilian electronic compo-
nents business that specializes in electronic vehicle security 
devices. The investment is accounted for under the equity 
method of accounting. The Company’s investment in PST 
was $13,309 and $11,814 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively. The Company has loaned PST $5,843, which 
includes accrued interest. 

Note 4

LONG-TERM DEBT

On May 1, 2002, the Company issued $200.0 million aggre-
gate principal amount of senior notes. The $200.0 million 
notes bear interest at an annual rate of 11.50% and mature 
on May 1, 2012. Interest is payable on May 1 and November 

1 of each year. On July 1, 2002, the Company completed an 
exchange offer of the senior notes for substantially identical 
notes registered under the Securities Act of 1933.

In conjunction with the issuance of the senior notes, the 
Company also entered into a new $200.0 million credit 
agreement with a bank group. The credit agreement has two 
components: a $100.0 million revolving facility (of which 
$95.9 million was available at December 31, 2003), which 
includes a $10.0 million swing line facility, and a $100.0 
million term facility. The revolving facility expires on April 
30, 2007 and requires a commitment fee of 0.375% to 
0.500% on the unused balance as well as a utilization fee 
of 0.125% to 0.250% when the unutilized balance equals 
or exceeds 50.0% of the total revolving commitment. The 
revolving facility permits the Company to borrow up to half 
its borrowings in specified foreign currencies. Interest is 
payable quarterly at either (i) the prime rate plus a margin 
of 0.50% to 1.50% or (ii) LIBOR plus a margin of 2.00% to 
3.00%, depending upon the Company’s ratio of consolidated 
total debt to consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA), as defined. Interest 
on the swing line facility is payable monthly at the quoted 
overnight borrowing rate plus a margin of 2.00% to 3.00%, 
depending upon the Company’s ratio of consolidated total 
debt to consolidated EBITDA. The term facility was due to 
expire on April 30, 2008 and had interest payable quar-
terly at either (i) the prime rate plus 1.75% or (ii) LIBOR 
plus 3.25%.  The Company has the right to prepay any of 
the above-mentioned loans in whole or in part, without 
premium or penalty. During the first quarter of 2003, the 
Company prepaid $20.0 million of the term facility and dur-
ing the fourth quarter of 2003 prepaid the entire remaining 
balance outstanding under the term facility of $28.5 million.

The weighted average interest rate in effect for the years 
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was approxi-
mately 10.24%, 9.53% and 9.39%, respectively, including 
the effects of the interest rate swap agreements.

Long-term debt consisted of the following at December 31:

 2003 2002

11 1⁄2% Senior notes, due 2012 $ 200,000 $ 200,000
Borrowings under credit agreement  --  49,250
Borrowings payable to foreign banks  --  1,108
Other  662  552
  200,662  250,910
Less: Current portion  417  1,992
 $ 200,245 $ 248,918
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The credit agreement contains various covenants that 
require, among other things, the maintenance of certain 
minimum amounts of consolidated net worth and consoli-
dated EBITDA and certain specified ratios of consolidated 
total debt to consolidated EBITDA, interest coverage and 
fixed charge coverage. Restrictions also include limits on 
capital expenditures, operating leases and dividends. The 
Company was in compliance with all covenants at December 
31, 2003.

Future maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2003 
are as follows:

2004 $ 417
2005  197
2006  48
2007  --
2008  --
Thereafter  200,000
 $ 200,662 

Note 5

INCOME TAXES

The provisions for income taxes on income before cumula-
tive effect of accounting change included in the accompany-
ing financial statements represent federal, state and foreign 
income taxes. The components of income (loss) before 
income taxes and the provision for income taxes before 
cumulative effect of accounting change consists of the fol-
lowing:

 For the years ended December 31,

 2003 2002 2001

Income (loss) before income taxes 
 and cumulative effect 
 of accounting change     
Domestic $ 21,305 $ 30,137 $ 6,676
Foreign  9,715  2,181  (2,780)
 $ 31,020 $ 32,318 $ 3,896

Income tax provision (benefit)     
Current:     
Federal $ (2,082) $  (2,339) $ (9,347)
State and foreign  3,430  2,820  712
  1,348  481  (8,635)

Deferred:     
Federal  7,130  10,186  8,387
State and foreign  1,163  595  1,198
  8,293  10,781  9,585
Total  $  9,641 $ 11,262 $ 950

A reconciliation of the Company’s effective income tax rate 
to the statutory federal tax rate is as follows:

 2003 2002 2001

Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of 
 federal tax benefit 1.2 2.8 14.6
Tax credits (2.6) (2.3) (23.1)
Goodwill amortization -- -- 7.6
Tax benefit for export sales (3.1) (6.0) (56.0)
Foreign rate differential (2.6) 1.0 28.6
Other 3.2 4.3 17.7
Effective income tax rate 31.1% 34.8% 24.4%

Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries were $11,062, 
$12,046 and $10,978 as of December 31, 2003, 2002 
and 2001, respectively. Because these earnings have been 
indefinitely reinvested in foreign operations, no provision 
has been made for U.S. income taxes. It is impracticable 
to determine the amount of unrecognized deferred taxes 
with respect to these earnings; however, foreign tax cred-
its should be available to reduce U.S. income taxes in the 
event of a distribution.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following 
at December 31:
 2003 2002

Deferred tax assets:   
 Inventories $ 1,878 $ 2,113
 Employee benefits  2,281  923
 Insurance  1,877  1,885
 Other nondeductible reserves  10,133  8,400
Gross deferred tax assets  16,169  13,321

Deferred tax liabilities:   
 Depreciation and amortization  (32,907)  (19,931)
 Other  (694)  (2,764)
Gross deferred tax liabilities  (33,601)  (22,695)
   
Net deferred tax liability  $ (17,432) $ (9,374)

Note 6

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Company leases equipment, vehicles and buildings from 
third parties under operating lease agreements.

D.M. Draime, Chairman of the Company, is a 50% owner of 
Hunters Square, Inc. (“HSI”), an Ohio corporation, which 
owns Hunters Square, an office complex and shopping mall 
located in Warren, Ohio. The Company leases office space 
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in Hunters Square. The Company pays all maintenance, tax 
and insurance costs related to the operation of the office. 
Lease payments made by the Company to HSI were $301 
in 2003 and $357 in 2002 and 2001, respectively. The lease 
terminates in December 2009. The Company believes the 
terms of the lease are no less favorable to it than would be 
the terms of a third-party lease.

Earl Linehan, a director of the Company, and D.M. Draime, 
Chairman of the Company, as limited partners, own 11.81% 
and 10.00%, respectively, of Industrial Development 
Associates (“IDA”), a Maryland limited partnership real 
estate development company in which the Company is a 
30% general partner. The Company has a lease agreement 
with IDA pursuant to which the Company leases a facility 
located in Mebane, North Carolina. The lease expires on 
March 31, 2004. The Company is responsible for all main-
tenance, taxes and insurance costs related to the operations 
of the facility. The Company made lease payments to IDA 
of $115, $152 and $181 for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively. The Company believes the terms of the lease are no 
less favorable to it than would be the terms of a third-party 
lease.

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, 
lease expense totaled $6,278, $6,604 and $5,713, including 
related party lease expense of $451, $509 and $538, respec-
tively.

Future minimum operating lease commitments at December 
31, 2003 are as follows:

 Third Related
 Party Party

2004 $ 4,067 $ 311
2005  2,553  301
2006  2,078  301
2007  1,462  301
2008  1,014  301
Thereafter  845  301
 $ 12,019 $ 1,816

Note 7

SHARE OPTION PLANS

In October 1997, the Company adopted a Long-Term 
Incentive Plan (Incentive Plan). The Company has reserved 
2,500,000 Common Shares for issuance under the Incentive 
Plan. Under the Incentive Plan, the Company has granted 
cumulative options to purchase 1,594,500 Common Shares 
to management with exercise prices equal to the fair mar-
ket value of the Company’s Common Shares on the date of 
grant. The options cliff-vest from one to five years after the 
date of grant. 

In May 2002, the Company adopted a Director Share 
Option Plan (Director Plan). The Company has reserved 
500,000 Common Shares for issuance under the Director 
Plan. Under the Director Plan, the Company has granted 
cumulative options to purchase 86,000 Common Shares to 
directors of the Company with exercise prices equal to the 
fair market value of the Company’s Common Shares on the 
date of grant. The options cliff-vest one year after the date of 
grant.

Information relating to the Company’s outstanding options is 
as follows:
   Weighted
 Share Exercise Average
 Options Prices Exercise Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2000 576,000 7.82-17.50 16.05
 Granted in 2001 364,500 5.13-8.40 5.66
 Forfeited in 2001 (4,000) 5.13-14.72 12.32
Outstanding at December 31, 2001 936,500 5.13-17.50 12.03
 Granted in 2002 317,000 7.93 7.93
 Forfeited in 2002 (21,500) 5.13-17.50 13.51
 Exercised in 2002 (2,000) 5.13 5.13
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 1,230,000 5.13-17.50 10.96
 Granted in 2003 338,000 10.39-11.64 10.48
 Forfeited in 2003 (38,500) 5.13-17.50 10.60
 Exercised in 2003 (59,400) 5.13-14.72 7.47
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 1,470,100  11.00

Of the options issued and outstanding under both the 
Incentive Plan and the Director Plan, 813,100, 587,000, and 
488,000 were exercisable as of December 31, 2003, 2002 
and 2001, respectively. The weighted-average exercise price 
of options exercisable at the end of the year was $12.24, 
$15.40 and $17.14 per share at December 31, 2003, 2002 
and 2001, respectively. The weighted-average fair value of 
options granted during the year was $3.51, $5.17 and $3.06 
per share at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively.
 Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

   Weighted-
   Average Weighted-  Weighted-
 Range of  Share Remaining Average  Average
 Exercise  Options Contractual Exercise Shares Exercise
 Prices Outstanding  Life Price Exercisable Price

 $5.13 267,100 7 years $ 5.13 267,100 $ 5.13
 $7.82 - $8.40 395,500 7 years $ 7.96 90,000 $ 8.08
 $10.39 - $11.64 326,500 9 years $ 10.48 --  --
 $14.72 66,000 5 years $ 14.72 41,000 $ 14.72
 $16.44 - $17.50 415,000 4 years $ 17.48 415,000 $ 17.48
  1,470,100 7 years $ 11.00 813,100 $ 12.24
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Note 8

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has certain defined contribution profit shar-
ing and 401(k) plans covering substantially all of its employ-
ees. Company contributions are generally discretionary; 
however, a portion of these contributions is based upon a 
percentage of employee compensation, as defined in the 
plans. The Company’s policy is to fund all benefit costs 
accrued. For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 
2001, expenses related to these plans amounted to $3,757, 
$345 and $3,301, respectively.

The Company has a single defined benefit pension plan that 
covers certain employees in Europe. The following table sets 
forth the benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets, and the 
funded status of the Company’s plan; amounts recognized 
in the Company’s financial statements; and the principal 
weighted average assumptions used:
 2003 2002

Change in benefit obligation:   
 Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 13,120 $ 11,226
 Service cost  490  630
 Interest cost  800  735
 Participant contributions  180  195
 Curtailment  (1,945)  --
 Actuarial gain  1,634  (525)
 Benefits paid  (751)  (390)
 Translation adjustments  1,642  1,249
 Benefit obligation at end of year $  15,170 $ 13,120

Change in plan assets:   
 Fair value of plan assets
  at beginning of year $ 10,882 $ 11,488
 Actual return on plan assets  1,699  (1,515)
 Employer contributions  245  --
 Participant contributions  180  195
 Benefits paid  (751)  (390)
 Translation adjustments  1,309  1,104
 Fair value of plan assets at end of year $  13,564 $ 10,882

Funded status $ (1,606) $ (2,238)
Unrecognized actuarial loss  2,106  3,123
Net amount recognized $ 500 $ 885

Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of:   
 Accrued (liability) benefit $ (1,606) $ (483)
 Other comprehensive income  2,106  1,368
 Net amount recognized $ 500 $ 885

Weighted average assumptions as of December 31:
 2003 2002

 Discount rate 5.75% 6.00%
 Expected return on plan assets 7.25% 7.25%
 Rate of increase to compensation levels N/A 3.25%
 Rate of increase to pensions in payments 3.00% 3.00%
 Rate of future price inflation 2.75% 2.25%

Components of net periodic pension cost are as follows:
 2003 2002 2001

 Service cost $ 490 $ 630 $ 821
 Interest cost  800  735  648
 Expected return on plan assets  (784)  (825)  (849)
 Amortization of actuarial loss  180  --  --
 Net periodic pension cost $ 686 $ 540 $ 620

The provisions of SFAS 87, “Employers’ Accounting for 
Pensions,” required the Company to record an additional 
minimum liability of $738 with a corresponding charge 
recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehen-
sive income of $443, net of tax of $295, at December 31, 
2003. The additional minimum pension liability was $1,368 
with a corresponding charge recorded as a component of 
accumulated other comprehensive loss of $821, net of tax 
of $547, at December 31, 2002. This liability represents 
the amount by which the accumulated benefit obligation 
exceeds the sum of the fair market value of plan assets and 
accrued amounts previously recorded. 

On December 31, 2003 the Company amended the defined 
benefit plan to eliminate the linkage between future service 
and salary derived plan benefits. The defined benefit plan 
will continue to provide certain life insurance and disability 
benefits to participants. Affected members of the plan, which 
numbered 159 at December 31, 2003, have been offered 
membership in the Company’s defined contribution plan. As 
a result of the curtailment, the projected benefit obligation 
of the plan was reduced by $1,945.

The Company does not provide any other significant retirement, 
post-retirement or post-employment benefits to its employees.

Note 9

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument is cash or a contract that imposes an 
obligation to deliver, or conveys a right to receive cash or 
another financial instrument. The carrying values of cash 
and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts pay-
able are considered to be representative of fair value because 
of the short maturity of these instruments. The estimated 
fair value of the Company’s variable rate debt approximates 
book value, as under the terms of the borrowing arrange-

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in thousands, except share and per share data, unless otherwise indicated)



26 Stoneridge, Inc. and Subsidiaries 27Stoneridge, Inc. and Subsidiaries

ments, a portion of the obligations are subject to fluctuat-
ing market rates of interest. The estimated fair value of 
the Company’s fixed rate debt at December 31, 2003, per 
quoted market sources, was $235.8 million and the carrying 
value was $200.0 million.

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to 
reduce exposure to market risks resulting from fluctua-
tions in interest rates (swaps) and currency rates (forward 
contracts). The Company does not enter into financial 
instruments for speculative or profit motivated purposes. 
Management believes that its use of these instruments to 
reduce risk is in the Company’s best interest. 

In order to manage the interest rate risk associated with the 
Company’s previous debt portfolio, the Company entered 
into interest rate swap agreements. These agreements 
required the Company to pay a fixed interest rate to coun-
terparties while receiving a floating interest rate based on 
LIBOR. The counterparties to each of the interest rate swap 
agreements were major commercial banks. These agreements 
were due to mature on or before December 31, 2003 and 
qualified as cash flow hedges; however, as a result of the 
Company’s debt refinancing, these agreements were termi-
nated on May 1, 2002. Derivative activity recorded in accu-
mulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

 For the years ended December 31,

 2003 2002 2001

Amortization of terminated 
 swap agreements, pre-tax $ 991 $ 4,283 $ --
Tax effect  (372)  (1,606)  --
Amortization of terminated 
 swap agreements, net of tax $ 620 $ 2,677 $ --

Change in fair value of 
 swap agreements, pre-tax $ -- $  1,408 $ (6,267)
Tax effect  --  (394)  2,225
Change in fair value of 
 swap agreements, net of tax $ -- $ 1,014 $ (4,042)

Cumulative effect of change in 
 accounting for swap agreements, 
 pre-tax $ -- $ -- $ (416)
Tax effect  --  --  148
Cumulative effect of change in 
 accounting for swap agreements, 
 net of tax $ -- $ -- $ (268)

As of December 31, 2003 these terminated swap agreements 
were fully amortized into income.

The Company has entered into foreign currency forward 
purchase contracts with a notional value of 22.6 million of 
Swedish krona to reduce exposure related to the Company’s 
krona denominated debt obligations. The estimated fair 

value of these forward contracts at December 31, 2003, per 
quoted market sources, was $(0.3) million. These forward 
contracts are marked to market, with gains and losses rec-
ognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The 
Company’s foreign currency forward purchase contracts sub-
stantially offset losses and gains on the underlying foreign 
denominated debt obligations and receivables.

Note 10

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is involved 
in various legal proceedings, workers’ compensation and 
product liability disputes. Management is of the opinion that 
the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a mate-
rial adverse effect on the results of operations, cash flows or 
the financial position of the Company.

On January 15, 2004, a judgment was entered against the 
Company in the District Court (365th Judicial District) in 
Maverick County, Texas. The plaintiffs alleged in their com-
plaint that a Stoneridge fuel valve installed as a replacement 
part on a truck caused a fire after an accident resulting in 
a death. The plaintiffs are the parents of the decedent. The 
final judgment entered against the Company was approxi-
mately $36.5 million.  The Company denies its fuel valve 
contributed to the fire. A motion for a new trial and other 
relief is pending before the trial court. A vigorous appeal of 
this judgment will be undertaken if the trial court denies 
relief. The Company believes that there are valid grounds 
to reverse the judgment on appeal. If successful, the appeal 
may alter or eliminate the amount of the existing judgment. 
While legal proceedings are subject to inherent uncertainty, 
the Company believes that it is reasonably possible that 
this award will be substantially altered or eliminated by the 
appellate court. Consequently, in the opinion of manage-
ment and counsel, it is not possible to estimate the outcome 
of such uncertainty at this time. The Company will record a 
provision for any liability in this case, if and at the time that 
management and counsel conclude a loss is probable.

Note 11

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Avery Cohen, a director of the Company, is a partner in 
Baker & Hostetler, LLP, a law firm, which has served as 
general outside counsel for the Company since 1993 and is 
expected to continue to do so in the future. The Company 
paid $940, $1,082 and $721 in legal fees to Baker & 
Hostetler during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

See Note 6 to the Company’s consolidated financial state-
ments for information on the Company’s related party trans-
actions involving operating leases.
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Note 12

SEGMENT REPORTING

SFAS 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” establishes standards for reporting infor-
mation about operating segments in financial statements. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise 
that are evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing per-
formance. The Company’s chief operating decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer.

The Company has two reportable operating segments: Vehicle Management & Power Distribution and Control Devices. 
These reportable operating segments were determined based on the differences in the nature of the products offered. The 
Vehicle Management & Power Distribution operating segment produces electronic instrument clusters, electronic control 
units, driver information systems and electrical distribution systems, primarily wiring harnesses and connectors for electrical 
power and signal distribution. The Control Devices operating segment produces electronic and electromechanical switches, 
control actuation devices and sensors.

The accounting policies of the Company’s operating segments are the same as those described in Note 2, “Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies.”  The Company evaluates the performance of its operating segments based primarily on rev-
enues from external customers, net income and capital expenditures. Intersegment sales are accounted for on terms similar 
to those to third parties and are eliminated upon consolidation. 

A summary of financial information by reportable operating segment is as follows:

 For the year ended December 31, 2003

 Vehicle
 Management
 & Power Control
 Distribution Devices Eliminations Consolidated

Sales from external customers $ 275,569 $  331,096 $ -- $ 606,665
Intersegment sales  14,083  2,080  (16,163)  --
Total net sales $ 289,652 $ 333,176 $ (16,163) $ 606,665

Net income $ 5,409 $ 15,970 $              -- $  21,379
Depreciation and amortization $ 8,377 $ 13,811 $              -- $  22,188
Interest expense, net $ 3,534 $  24,117 $              -- $  27,651
Provision for income taxes $ 2,439 $  7,202 $              -- $  9,641

Capital expenditures $  10,478 $  15,904 $             -- $  26,382

Total assets $ 144,641 $  435,026 $              -- $ 579,667

 For the year ended December 31, 2002

 Vehicle
 Management
 & Power Control
 Distribution Devices Eliminations Consolidated

Sales from external customers $    260,932 $ 375,575 $               -- $ 636,507
Intersegment sales  12,872  1,321  (14,193)  --
Total net sales $ 273,804 $ 376,896 $ (14,193) $ 636,507

Net loss $ (29,470) $ (19,308) $  -- $ (48,778)
Depreciation and amortization $ 8,037 $ 13,863 $ -- $ 21,900
Interest expense, net $ 5,145 $ 29,471 $ -- $ 34,616
Provision for income taxes $ 839 $ 10,423 $ -- $ 11,262
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax $ (31,800) $ (38,034) $ -- $ (69,834)

Capital expenditures $ 4,272 $ 10,384 $  -- $ 14,656

Total assets $     135,714 $    435,413 $              -- $      571,127

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 For the year ended December 31, 2001

 Vehicle
 Management
 & Power Control
 Distribution Devices Eliminations Consolidated

Sales from external customers $  236,968 $  347,500 $             -- $  584,468
Intersegment sales  8,913  2,010  (10,923)  --
Total net sales $  245,881 $  349,510 $  (10,923) $  584,468

Net (loss) income $  (11,879) $    14,825 $             -- $      2,946
Depreciation and amortization $      8,104 $    20,740 $             -- $    28,844
Interest expense, net $      5,008 $    26,300 $             -- $    31,308
(Benefit) provision for income taxes $   (3,831) $      4,781 $             -- $         950

Capital expenditures $      5,959 $    18,009 $             -- $    23,968

Total assets $  181,784 $  489,149 $             -- $  670,933

The following table presents the Company’s core product lines, as a percentage of net sales:

 For the years ended December 31,

 2003 2002 2001

Vehicle Management & Power Distribution:   
 Vehicle electrical power and distribution systems 25% 22% 21%
 Electronic instrumentation and information display products 20 19 20
 45% 41% 41%

Control Devices:   
 Electronic and electrical switch and actuator products 32% 35% 34%
 Sensor products 23 24 25

 55% 59% 59%

The following table presents net sales and non-current assets for each of the geographic areas in which the Company oper-
ates:     

 For the years ended December 31,

 2003 2002 2001

Net Sales:   

 North America $ 492,565 $ 534,807 $ 498,011

 Europe and other  114,100  101,700  86,457

  Total $ 606,665 $ 636,507 $ 584,468

Non-Current Assets:   

 North America $  346,994 $ 344,450 $ 440,915

 Europe and other  53,047  51,002  53,183

  Total $  400,041 $ 395,452 $ 494,098
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Note 13

GUARANTOR FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The senior notes and the credit facility are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by each of the 
Company’s existing and future domestic wholly-owned subsidiaries (Guarantor Subsidiaries). The Company’s non-U.S. sub-
sidiaries did not guarantee the senior notes and the credit facility (Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries).

Presented below are summarized condensed consolidating financial statements of the Parent (which include certain of the 
Company’s operating units), the Guarantor Subsidiaries, the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries and the Company on a consoli-
dated basis, as of December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 and for the years then ended.

These summarized condensed consolidating financial statements are prepared on the equity method. Separate financial 
statements for the Guarantor Subsidiaries are not presented based on management’s determination that they do not provide 
additional information that is material to investors. Therefore, the Guarantor Subsidiaries are combined in the presentation 
below.

 December 31, 2003
  Guarantor Non-Guarantor
 Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets     
Current Assets:                    
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,660  $ 26          $        9,456          $                --         $      24,142
 Accounts receivable, net  42,585  28,595                   21,324                    (3,343)                  89,161
 Inventories, net  22,193  11,027                   15,422                            --                   48,642
 Prepaid expenses, intercompany and other  (234,958)  215,387                   29,396                            --                     9,825
 Deferred income taxes  4,659  2,620                        577                            --                     7,856
  Total current assets  (150,861)  257,655                   76,175                    (3,343)                179,626

Property, Plant and Equipment, net  61,042  31,390                   23,830                            --                 116,262
Other Assets:              
 Goodwill  234,701  20,591                           --                            --                 255,292
 Investments and other, net  34,628  548                     1,128                    (7,817)                  28,487
 Investment in subsidiaries  333,606  --                           --                (333,606)                          --
Total Assets $ 513,116  $  310,184          $    101,133           $  (344,766)         $    579,667

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity    
Current Liabilities:              
 Current portion of long-term debt $ -- $  --          $           417           $               --          $           417
 Accounts payable  24,920  16,194                   15,779                    (3,299)                  53,594
 Accrued expenses and other  13,735  20,930                   19,948                         (44)                  54,569
  Total current liabilities  38,655  37,124                   36,144                    (3,343)                108,580

Long-Term Liabilities:              
 Long-term debt, net of current portion  207,301  --                        761                    (7,817)                200,245
 Deferred income taxes  23,393  3,082                    (1,187)                           --                   25,288
 Other liabilities  361  --                     1,787                            --                     2,148
  Total long-term liabilities  231,055  3,082                     1,361                    (7,817)                227,681

Shareholders’ Equity  243,406  269,978                   63,628                (333,606)                243,406
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 513,116  $  310,184          $    101,133           $   (344,766)         $    579,667

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Supplemental condensed consolidating financial statements (continued):

 December 31, 2002
  Guarantor Non-Guarantor
 Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets    
Current Assets:              
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,698 $ 167          $        8,370           $               --          $      27,235
 Accounts receivable, net  35,941  30,295                   16,137                    (3,031)                  79,342
 Inventories, net  23,940  13,346                   13,853                            --                   51,139
 Prepaid expenses, intercompany and other  (175,807)  168,489                   19,373                            --                   12,055
 Deferred income taxes  3,051  3,043                       (190)                           --                     5,904
  Total current assets  (94,177)  215,340                   57,543                    (3,031)                175,675

Property, Plant and Equipment, net  55,714  33,875                   22,249                            --                 111,838
Other Assets:              
 Goodwill  234,701  20,591                           --                            --                 255,292
 Investments and other, net  40,514  507                        914                  (13,613)                  28,322
 Investment in subsidiaries  287,092  --                           --                (287,092)                          --
Total Assets $ 523,844 $ 270,313          $      80,706           $   (303,736)         $    571,127

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity    
Current Liabilities:              
 Current portion of long-term debt $ 1,000 $ --          $           992           $               --          $        1,992
 Accounts payable  19,025  16,864                   10,219                    (2,957)                  43,151
 Accrued expenses and other  24,523  5,423                   15,200                         (76)                  45,070
  Total current liabilities  44,548  22,287                   26,411                    (3,033)                  90,213

Long-Term Liabilities:              
 Long-term debt, net of current portion  247,563  --                   14,966                  (13,611)                248,918
 Deferred income taxes  15,498  3,879                    (4,099)                           --                   15,278
 Other liabilities  333  --                        483                            --                        816
  Total long-term liabilities  263,394  3,879                   11,350                  (13,611)                265,012

Shareholders’ Equity  215,902  244,147                   42,945                (287,092)                215,902
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 523,844 $ 270,313          $      80,706           $   (303,736)         $    571,127
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Supplemental condensed consolidating financial statements (continued):

 For the year ended December 31, 2003
  Guarantor Non-Guarantor
 Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net Sales $ 273,412 $ 205,649          $    150,774           $     (23,170)         $    606,665
Costs and Expenses:              
 Cost of goods sold  212,911  145,205                 115,689                  (23,170)                450,635
 Selling, general and administrative  40,070  31,227                   26,363                            --                   97,660

Operating Income  20,431  29,217                     8,722                            --                   58,370

 Interest expense, net  27,675  --                         (24)                           --                   27,651
 Other (income) expense, net  (2,673)  3,341                       (969)                           --                       (301)
 Equity earnings from subsidiaries  (26,225)  --                           --                   26,225                           --

Income Before Income Taxes  21,654  25,876                     9,715                  (26,225)                  31,020

 Provision for income taxes  275  8,280                     1,086                            --                     9,641

Net Income  $ 21,379 $ 17,596          $        8,629           $     (26,225)         $      21,379

 For the year ended December 31, 2002
  Guarantor Non-Guarantor
 Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net Sales $ 280,221 $ 254,389          $    141,125           $     (39,228)         $    636,507
Costs and Expenses:              
 Cost of goods sold  211,939  184,745                 113,732                  (39,228)                471,188
 Selling, general and administrative  36,723  31,422                   22,854                            --                   90,999

Operating Income  31,559  38,222                     4,539                            --                   74,320

 Interest expense, net  33,542  --                     1,074                            --                   34,616
 Loss on extinguishment of debt  5,771  --                           --                            --                     5,771
 Other (income) expense, net  (1,842)  2,173                     1,284                            --                     1,615
 Equity earnings from subsidiaries  12,929  --                           --                  (12,929)                          --

(Loss) Income Before Income Taxes and
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change  (18,841)  36,049                     2,181                   12,929                   32,318

 (Benefit) Provision for income taxes  (3,421)  12,617                     2,066                            --                   11,262
                                  
Income Before Cumulative Effect 
of Accounting Change  (15,420)  23,432                        115                   12,929                   21,056

 Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax  (33,358)  (4,701)                 (31,775)                           --                  (69,834)

Net (Loss) Income $ (48,778) $ 18,731          $     (31,660)          $      12,929          $     (48,778)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Supplemental condensed consolidating financial statements (continued):

 For the year ended December 31, 2001
  Guarantor Non-Guarantor
 Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net Sales $ 257,180 $ 225,205          $    126,707           $     (24,624)         $    584,468
Costs and Expenses:              
 Cost of goods sold  201,628  165,226                 107,156                  (24,624)                449,386
 Selling, general and administrative  46,425  31,907                   21,025                            --                   99,357

Operating Income (Loss)  9,127  28,072                    (1,474)                           --                   35,725

 Interest expense, net  30,269  --                     1,039                            --                   31,308
 Other (income) expense, net  (2,368)  2,622                        267                            --                        521
 Equity earnings from subsidiaries  (12,896)  --                           --                   12,896                           --

(Loss) Income Before Income Taxes  (5,878)  25,450                    (2,780)                 (12,896)                    3,896

 (Benefit) Provision for income taxes  (8,824)  8,908                        866                            --                        950

Net Income (Loss)  $ 2,946 $ 16,542          $       (3,646)          $     (12,896)         $        2,946

 For the year ended December 31, 2003
  Guarantor Non-Guarantor
 Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

 Net cash provided by operating activities $ 53,211 $ 4,755          $      20,180           $       (5,792)         $      72,354

Investing Activities:              
Capital expenditures  (16,047)  (4,959)                   (5,376)                           --                  (26,382)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  386  --                        826                            --                     1,212
Other  (15)  --                          12                            --                           (3)
 Net cash used by investing activities  (15,676)  (4,959)                   (4,538)                           --                  (25,173)

Financing Activities:              
Repayments of long-term debt  (41,940)  --                  (15,947)                    5,792                  (52,095)
Proceeds from exercise of share options  368  63                          13                            --                        444
 Net cash used by financing activities  (41,572)  63                  (15,934)                    5,792                  (51,651)
                                  
Effect of exchange rate changes on 
 cash and cash equivalents  (1)  --                     1,378                            --                     1,377
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (4,038)  (141)                    1,086                            --                    (3,093)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  18,698  167                     8,370                            --                   27,235
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 14,660 $ 26          $        9,456           $               --          $      24,142
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Supplemental condensed consolidating financial statements (continued):

 For the year ended December 31, 2002
  Guarantor Non-Guarantor
 Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

 Net cash provided by operating activities $ 33,971 $ 48,076          $      14,488           $          (910)         $      95,625

Investing Activities:              
Capital expenditures  (7,505)  (4,972)                   (2,179)                           --                  (14,656)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  221  --                          90                            --                        311
Other  (39)  --                       (393)                       434                            2
 Net cash used by investing activities  (7,323)  (4,972)                   (2,482)                       434                  (14,343)

Financing Activities:    
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes  200,000  --                           --                            --                 200,000
Extinguishment of revolving facility  (37,641)  --                           --                            --                  (37,641)
Extinguishment of term debt  (226,139)  --                           --                            --                (226,139)
Net repayments under revolving facilities  (13,019)  --                    (1,378)                           --                  (14,397)
Proceeds from long-term debt  100,000  --                           --                            --                 100,000
Repayments of long-term debt  (15,897)  (42,966)                   (6,643)                       476                  (65,030)
Debt issuance costs  (10,694)  --                           --                            --                  (10,694)
Interest rate swap termination costs  (5,274)  --                           --                            --                    (5,274)
 Net cash used by financing activities  (8,664)  (42,966)                   (8,021)                       476                  (59,175)

Effect of exchange rate changes 
 on cash and cash equivalents  --  --                        759                            --                        759
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  17,984  138                     4,744                            --                   22,866
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  714  29                     3,626                            --                     4,369
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 18,698 $ 167          $        8,370           $               --          $      27,235

 For the year ended December 31, 2001
  Guarantor Non-Guarantor
 Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

 Net cash provided by operating activities $ 17,454 $ 40,828           $       5,650             $     (1,787)         $      62,145

Investing Activities:              
Capital expenditures  (9,578)  (10,600)                   (3,790)                           --                  (23,968)
Other  43  --                    (5,557)                    6,064                        550
 Net cash used by investing activities  (9,535)  (10,600)                   (9,347)                    6,064                  (23,418)

Financing Activities:    
Net borrowings (repayments) under revolving facilities  1,774  --                       (366)                           --                     1,408
Repayments of long-term debt  (6,098)  (30,308)                    2,486                    (4,277)                 (38,197)
Debt issuance costs  (3,053)  --                           --                            --                    (3,053)
 Net cash used by financing activities  (7,377)  (30,308)                    2,120                    (4,277)                 (39,842)

Effect of exchange rate changes 
 on cash and cash equivalents  --  --                       (110)                           --                       (110)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  542  (80)                   (1,687)                           --                    (1,225)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  172  109                     5,313                            --                     5,594
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 714   $ 29            $      3,626            $              --            $      4,369

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Note 14

UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA 

The following is a condensed summary of actual quarterly results of operations for 2003 and 2002: 

 Quarter Ended

 Dec. 31 Sep. 30 June 30 Mar. 31

 (in millions, except per share data)

 2003    
Net sales $ 151.3       $           140.8        $           155.0       $       159.6
Gross profit (A)  40.4                       34.4                        40.3                   40.9
Operating income (B)  14.0                       11.1                       16.2                   17.1
Net income (B) $ 5.1       $               3.1        $               6.2       $           7.0

Basic net income per share (D) $  0.23       $             0.14        $             0.28       $         0.31
Diluted net income per share (D) $  0.22       $             0.14        $             0.27       $         0.31

 2002    
Net sales $ 148.3       $           158.4        $           172.0       $       157.8
Gross profit (A)  38.2                       39.6                        48.2                   39.3
Operating income  15.1                       16.3                       25.3                   17.6
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change (C)  4.5                          4.2                         6.8                     5.5
Net income (loss)  (C) $ 4.5        $               4.2        $                6.8        $        (64.3)

Basic income before cumulative effect 
 of accounting change per share (D) $ 0.20       $             0.19        $             0.30       $        0.25
Diluted income before cumulative effect 
 of accounting change per share (D) $ 0.20       $             0.19        $             0.30       $        0.25

(A) Gross profit represents net sales less cost of goods sold.

(B) During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company adopted the fair value provisions of SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation,” effective January 1, 2003, prospectively to all employee awards granted, modified or settled after January 1, 
2003. Therefore, the Company’s first, second and third quarter operating income and net income are restated as follows:

 Quarter Ended

  Sep. 30 June 30 Mar. 31

Operating income as originally reported                                                                                         $               11.3         $               16.3        $          17.6

Share-based compensation expense                                                                                                                   0.2                            0.1                          --

Other                                                                                                                                                                    --                               --                           0.5

Operating income as restated                                                                                                          $               11.1         $               16.2        $          17.1

Net income as originally reported                                                                                                    $                 3.2         $                 6.3        $            7.0

Share-based compensation expense                                                                                                                   0.2                            0.1                          --

Tax effect on share-based compensation                                                                                                           (0.1)                           --             --

Net income as restated                                                                                                                      $                 3.1         $                 6.2        $            7.0

(C) During the second quarter of 2002, the Company completed the initial goodwill impairment analysis, as required by SFAS 142. 
As a result, the Company recognized a cumulative effect of accounting change adjustment of $69.8 million, net of tax, effective 
January 1, 2002. 

(D) Earnings per share for the year may not equal the sum of the four fiscal quarters earnings per share due to changes in basic and 
diluted shares outstanding.
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders 
of Stoneridge, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated bal-
ance sheets of Stoneridge, Inc. (an Ohio Corporation) and 
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the 
related consolidated statements of operations, sharehold-
ers’ equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the 
period ended December 31, 2003.  Our audit also included 
the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 
8.  These financial statements and schedule are the respon-
sibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements and 
schedule based on our audits.  The consolidated financial 
statements and schedule of Stoneridge, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
as of December 31, 2001 and for the year then ended were 
audited by other auditors who have ceased operations and 
whose report dated January 22, 2002, expressed an unquali-
fied opinion on those consolidated financial statements and 
schedule before the restatement adjustments and disclosures 
described below and in Notes 2, 8 and 11. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing stan-
dards generally accepted in the United States. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes exam-
ining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and signif-
icant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2003 and 2002 consolidated financial 
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of Stoneridge, 
Inc. and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and 2002 
and the consolidated results of their operations and their 
cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended 
December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States.  Also, in our 
opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when con-
sidered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as 
a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the informa-
tion set forth therein.

As explained in Note 2 to the consolidated financial 
statements, effective January 1, 2003, the Company 
adopted Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation,” under the prospective transition meth-
od in Statement No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation – Transition and Disclosure; an Amendment 
to Statement No. 123.”  Also explained in Note 2 to the 
consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, 
the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards (Statement) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets.”  

As discussed above, the consolidated financial statements 
of Stoneridge, Inc. and Subsidiaries for  the year ended 
December 31, 2001 were audited by other auditors who 
have ceased operations. However, the Company made cer-
tain adjustments to and disclosures in the prior years’ finan-
cial statements to conform to the current year’s presentation 
or to comply with adoption requirements of new accounting 
pronouncements, as follows: 

(i) As described in Note 2, the 2001 consolidated financial 
statements have been revised to include the transitional 
disclosures required by Statement No. 142, which was 
adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2002. Our audit 
procedures with respect to the 2001 disclosures in Note 2 
included (a) agreeing the previously reported net income 
(in total and the related net income per share amounts) to 
the previously issued consolidated financial statements and 
the adjustments to reported amounts representing amortiza-
tion expense (including any related tax effects) recognized 
in those periods related to goodwill as a result of initially 
applying Statement No. 142 to the Company’s underlying 
records obtained from management, and (b) testing the 
mathematical accuracy of the reconciliation of adjusted net 
income to reported net income, and the related net income 
per share amounts. 

(ii) In Note 8, the Company added 2001 disclosures relating 
to its defined benefit pension plan to conform to the 2002 
presentation. We audited the information added for the 
2001 disclosures. Our procedures included (a) agreeing the 
2001 defined benefit pension plan amounts and information 
contained in Note 8 to the Company’s underlying records 
obtained from management, and (b) testing the mathemati-
cal accuracy of the reconciliations of 2001 defined benefit 
pension plan amounts to the consolidated financial state-
ments.  

REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
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(iii) As presented in Note 11, the Company changed the 
composition of its reportable segments in 2002 from one 
reportable segment to two reportable segments, and the 
amounts in the 2001 consolidated financial statements relat-
ing to reportable segments have been restated to conform to 
the 2002 composition of reportable segments. We audited 
the adjustments that were applied to restate the disclosures 
for reportable segments reflected in the 2001 consolidated 
financial statements. Our procedures included (a) agreeing 
the adjusted amounts of 2001 reportable segment informa-
tion contained in Note 11 to the Company’s underlying 
records obtained from management, and (b) testing the 
mathematical accuracy of the reconciliations of 2001 report-
able segment amounts to the consolidated financial state-
ments. 

In our opinion, the adjustments and disclosures described in 
(i), (ii) and (iii) above are appropriate and have been prop-
erly applied. However, we were not engaged to audit, review, 
or apply any procedures to the 2001 consolidated financial 
statements of the Company other than with respect to such 
disclosures and adjustments and, accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 

2001 consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio

January 21, 2004

This report is a copy and has not been reissued by 
Arthur Andersen LLP.

This report references the Company’s Balance Sheets as of 
December 31, 2001 and 2000 and its related Consolidated 
Statements of Income, Shareholder’s Equity and Cash Flows for 
the periods ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, which are not 
presented herein.

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders 

of Stoneridge, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated bal-
ance sheets of Stoneridge, Inc. (an Ohio corporation) and 
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the 
related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ 
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2001. These financial state-
ments are the responsibility of the Company’s management. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing stan-
dards generally accepted in the United States. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes exam-
ining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and signif-
icant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Stoneridge, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 
2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their 
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States.

As explained in Note 2 to the consolidated financial state-
ments, effective January 1, 2001, the Company changed its 
method of accounting for derivative instruments.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Cleveland, Ohio,

January 22, 2002. 
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Forward-Looking Statements

Portions of this report may contain “forward-looking state-
ments” under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 
1995. These statements appear in a number of places in this 
report and include statements regarding the intent, belief 
or current expectations of the Company, its directors or its 
officers with respect to, among other things, the Company’s 
(i) future product and facility expansion, (ii) acquisition 
strategy, (iii) investments and new product development, 
and (iv) growth opportunities related to awarded business.  
Forward-looking statements may be identified by the words 
“will,” “may,” “designed to,” “believes,” “plans,” “expects,” 
“continue,” and similar words and expressions.  The for-
ward-looking statements in this report are subject to risks 
and uncertainties that could cause actual events or results to 
differ materially from those expressed in or implied by the 
statements. Important factors that could cause actual results 
to differ materially from those in the forward-looking state-
ments include, among other factors:

• the loss of a major customer;

• a significant change in automotive, medium- and 
heavy-duty truck or agricultural and off-highway 
vehicle production;

• a significant change in general economic conditions 
in any of the various countries in which the Company 
operates;

• labor disruptions at the Company’s facilities or at any 
of the Company’s significant customers or suppliers;

• the ability of the Company’s suppliers to supply it 
with parts and components at scompetitive prices on 
a timely basis;

• the amount of debt and the restrictive covenants 
contained in the Company’s credit facility;

• customer acceptance of new products;

• capital availability or costs, including changes in 
interest rates or market perceptions of the Company;

• changes by the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board or the Securities and Exchange Commission 
of authoritative generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples or policies;

• the impact of laws and regulations, including envi-
ronmental laws and regulations; and

• the occurrence or non-occurrence of circumstances 
beyond the Company’s control.

Certifications Pursuant to Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes–Oxley Act of 2002

I, D.M. Draime, Interim President and Chief Executive 
Officer, of Stoneridge, Inc. (the “Company”), certify that:

(1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of the 
Company;

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain 
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in 
light of the circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and 
other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows of the Company as 
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

(4) The Company’s other certifying officer and I are respon-
sible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Company and we have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures 
or caused such disclosure controls and procedures 
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure 
that material information relating to the Company, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, par-
ticularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s dis-
closure controls and procedures and presented in 
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness 
of the disclosure controls and procedures as of  the 
end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
that occurred during the Company’s fourth quarter 
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely 
to materially affect, the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and

(5) The Company’s other certifying officer and I have dis-
closed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 
control over financial reporting, to the Company’s audi-
tors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of 
directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses 
in the design or operation of internal control over 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND CERTIFICATIONS



38 Stoneridge, Inc. and Subsidiaries 39Stoneridge, Inc. and Subsidiaries

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to 
adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial informa-
tion; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves 
management or other employees who have a sig-
nificant role in the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting.

D.M. Draime, Interim President and Chief Executive Officer
March 15, 2004

I, Kevin P. Bagby, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, 
of Stoneridge, Inc. (the “Company”), certify that:

(1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of the 
Company;

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain 
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in 
light of the circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and 
other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows of the Company as 
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

(4) The Company’s other certifying officer and I are respon-
sible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Company and we have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures 
or caused such disclosure controls and procedures 
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure 
that material information relating to the Company, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, par-
ticularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s dis-
closure controls and procedures and presented in 
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness 
of the disclosure controls and procedures as of  the 
end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
that occurred during the Company’s fourth quarter 
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely 
to materially affect, the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and

(5) The Company’s other certifying officer and I have dis-
closed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 
control over financial reporting, to the Company’s audi-
tors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of 
directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses 
in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to 
adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial informa-
tion; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves 
management or other employees who have a sig-
nificant role in the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting.

Kevin P. Bagby, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
March 15, 2004 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate Offices

Stoneridge, Inc.
9400 East Market Street
Warren, Ohio 44484
330/856-2443
www.stoneridge.com

Stock Exchange

Common Shares of Stoneridge are traded on the New York 
Stock Exchange under the symbol SRI. The historical high 
and low prices of the Company’s Common Shares are as fol-
lows:
 Quarter Ended High Low

2003 March 31 $ 15.55 $ 8.84
 June 30 $ 14.07 $ 9.50
 September 30 $ 17.29 $ 13.45
 December 31 $ 15.73 $ 12.28

2002 March 31 $ 11.40 $ 7.51
 June 30 $ 19.30 $ 9.85
 September 30 $ 19.02 $ 15.15
 December 31 $ 17.15 $ 7.05

The Company had approximately 1,600 shareholders of 
record on March 19, 2004.

Dividend Policy

The Company has not declared any cash dividends in the 
last four fiscal years. The Company presently expects to 
retain all future earnings for use in its business and therefore 
does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foresee-
able future. In addition, both the Company’s senior notes 
and credit agreement impose limitations on the amounts of 
dividends that can be paid.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

National City Bank acts as the Transfer Agent and Registrar 
for the Company. Questions on change of ownership, total 
shares owned, consolidation of accounts and other such 
matters should be sent to:

National City Bank
Corporate Trust Operations
Third Floor, North Annex
4100 West 150th Street
Cleveland, Ohio 44135-1385

Independent Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP, Cleveland, Ohio, is the independent 
public accounting firm retained by the Company in 2003 
and 2002.

Arthur Andersen LLP, Cleveland, Ohio, was the independent 
public accounting firm retained by the Company in 2001.

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will take place at 10:00 
a.m., Monday, May 10, 2004, in Warren, Ohio.

A notice of the meeting, together with a form of proxy and a 
proxy statement, will be mailed to shareholders on or about 
March 31, 2004.

Form 10-K

Stoneridge’s Form 10-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission for the year ended December 31, 
2003, is available without cost to shareholders through our 
website at www.stoneridge.com or upon written request to:

Investor Relations Department
Stoneridge, Inc.
9400 East Market Street
Warren, Ohio 44484

Corporate Governance

On or before the Company’s 2004 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders, the Company’s Corporate Governance 
Guidelines, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Code 
of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers and the charters 
of the Board’s Audit, Compensation and Nominating and 
Corporate Governance Committees will be posted on the 
Company’s website. Written copies of these documents will 
be available to any shareholder upon request by contacting 
Investor Relations.

Investor Relations

Security analysts, investment professionals and shareholders 
may request information and should direct their business-
related inquiries to:

Kevin Bagby, Chief Financial Officer
330/856-2443
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Worldwide Facilities

NORTH AMERICA

Boston, Massachusetts
Canton, Massachusetts
Chihuahua, Mexico
El Paso, Texas
Juarez, Mexico
Lexington, Ohio
Monclova, Mexico
Novi, Michigan
Orwell, Ohio
Portland, Indiana
Sarasota, Florida
Warren, Ohio

Employees

The Company employed approximately 5,300 employees as 
of December 31, 2003.

Board of Directors

D.M. Draime3

Chairman and Founder
Interim President and Chief Executive Officer
Director since 1988

Richard E. Cheney1,2

Retired Chairman of the Board, Hill & Knowlton, Inc.,
a public relations firm
Director since 1988

Avery S. Cohen3

Secretary
Partner, Baker & Hostetler LLP, a law firm
Director since 1988

John C. Corey1

President and Chief Executive Officer, 
Safety Components International,
a supplier of air bags and components
Director since 2004

Sheldon J. Epstein1,4

Managing Member, Epstein, Weber & Conover, PLC,
a public accounting firm
Director since 1988

William M. Lasky2,4

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer,
JLG Industries, Inc.,
a diversified construction and industrial equipment manufacturer
Director since 2004

Earl L. Linehan2,3,4

President, Woodbrook Capital, Inc., 
a venture capital and investment firm
Director since 1988

1 Member of the Audit Committee
2 Member of the Compensation Committee
3 Member of the Executive Committee
4 Member of the Nominating and 
 Corporate Governance Committee

Executive Officers

D.M. Draime
Interim President and Chief Executive Officer

Kevin P. Bagby
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Gerald V. Pisani
Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

Thomas A. Beaver
Vice President of Sales and Marketing

Michael J. Bagby
Vice President of the Company and General Manager 
of Alphabet Group

EUROPE

Cheltenham, England
Dundee, Scotland
Frankfurt, Germany
Madrid, Spain
Munich, Germany
Northampton, England
Orebro, Sweden
Paris, France
Stockholm, Sweden
Stuttgart, Germany
Tallinn, Estonia

SOUTH AMERICA

Sao Paulo, Brazil



9400 East Market Street
Warren, Ohio 44484
330/856-2443
www.stoneridge.com


